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March 13, 2023 

Honorable Mayor, City Council, 
and Residents of the City of Carlsbad 

City of Carlsbad 
Carlsbad, CA  92008 

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 
FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT  

Honorable Mayor, City Council, and Residents: 

I am pleased to present the fiscal year 2021-22 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the City of Carlsbad 
(“city”). The information found in this report is provided by management to the City Council and the public to assist 
those interested in understanding the fiscal condition of the city as of June 30, 2022.   

Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information contained in this 
report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal controls that has been established for this purpose. 
Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh its benefits, the city’s comprehensive framework of 
internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial 
statements will be free from material misstatement.   

State law and the Carlsbad Municipal Code require that an annual financial report is prepared. This report fulfills 
that obligation. It has been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and with 
the financial reporting requirements prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The 
independent auditing firm, Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP, has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the city’s 
financial statements for the fiscal year that ended June 30, 2022. The independent auditor’s report is located at the 
front of the financial section of this Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and provides 
a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial statements. The MD&A complements this letter 
of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it. 

As a recipient of federal and state financial assistance, the city is required to have a “Single Audit” performed by an 
independent audit firm. The Single Audit is designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. The 
standards governing Single Audit engagements require that the independent auditor report not only on the fair 
presentation of the financial statements, but also on the audited government’s internal controls and compliance 
with legal requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and legal requirements involving the 
administration of federal awards. These reports will be completed in March 2023 and made publicly available on the 
city’s website in the city’s separately issued Compliance Reports and Other Financial Information. 
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P r o f i l e  o f  t h e  C i t y  o f  C a r l s b a d  
 
Carlsbad incorporated in 1952 as a General Law City, although its “village” area dates back more than 100 years. In 
June 2008, the voters of Carlsbad overwhelmingly approved the city to change to a Charter City. Carlsbad is located 
on the southern California coast, about 35 miles north of the City of San Diego. The city is governed by a five-member 
City Council under the Council Manager form of government. The City Council is elected by district, on a staggered 
basis, for a term of four years. The city currently has four districts; however, the mayor is elected at large. The City 
Clerk and City Treasurer are also elected to four-year terms. The City Council appoints the City Manager and City 
Attorney. 
 
The city covers approximately 39 square miles 
and has a population of approximately 
115,000, with an expected built out 
population of 120,000 residents. Commercial 
activities in the city include: a major regional 
shopping center, a specialty outlet center, a 
commercial center with upscale retail shops, 
43 hotels offering 5,059 rooms, 325             
short-term vacation rentals and 668 
timeshares for tourist lodging, over 23 auto 
dealers, high technology, multimedia and 
biomedical businesses, electronics, golf 
apparel and equipment manufacturers, 
several business and light industry parks, and 
numerous land developers building single and multi-family housing in a variety of community settings.     
 
This report includes financial statements for the City of Carlsbad, the Housing Authority of the City of Carlsbad, the 
Carlsbad Public Financing Authority, and the Carlsbad Municipal Water District. Through these entities, Carlsbad 
provides a full range of services to its citizens and customers including: 
 

Development services  
Fire and paramedic services 
Housing programs 
Library and arts programs 
Park lands 
Police protection services 

Recreation programming for all ages  
Solid waste services 
Street construction and maintenance  
Water delivery system 
Wastewater system 

 
In addition to the full range of services normally associated with a municipality, Carlsbad offers programs to help 
residents and businesses. The city’s Housing Authority administers federal housing assistance to more than 500 low-
income households in Carlsbad, and older residents can take advantage of Carlsbad’s senior citizen programs.   
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B u d g e t  P r o c e s s  

The City Council sets the overall policy direction for Carlsbad and helps staff prioritize programs, projects and services 
to support that direction. Public input plays a critical role in setting both the long-range policy direction of the city 
and decisions about day-to-day spending.  
 

Public input specific to the budget process involved four main opportunities: City Council goal setting, 
presentation of goal work plans, presentation of the preliminary budget and the budget adoption public hearing. 
 
 
 
 
 

The City Council gathered in the winter and spring of 2022 to develop goals for the city’s five-year strategic 
plan. Taking into account work that was already put in motion through public input into the fiscal year 2021-22 
budget, the City Council asked staff to focus on five main goal themes: 

Community Character: maintain Carlsbad’s unique community character and connectedness 
Quality of Life & Safety: prioritize the safety and well-being of the community 
Sustainability & the Natural Environment: protect the environment and natural resources 
Economic Vitality: foster a healthy local economy 
Organization Excellence & Fiscal Health: be a model for effective and efficient local government 

 
Budgetary control for the city is maintained through its accounting systems. Expenditures may not exceed 
budgeted figures at the fund level. Monthly reports summarizing the results of operations for the city’s more 
significant funds are provided to the City Council and the public on the city’s website. 
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C o m m u n i t y  V i s i o n  

These nine core values make up the Carlsbad Community Vision. They were developed in collaboration with the 
community and drive both the day to day work of the city and its long-term planning. 
 

 

Small town feel, beach community character and connectedness – Enhance Carlsbad’s 
defining attributes—its small town feel and beach community character. Build on the city’s 
culture of civic engagement, volunteerism and philanthropy. 

 

Open space and the natural environment – Prioritize protection and enhancement of open 
space and the natural environment. Support and protect Carlsbad’s unique open space and 
agricultural heritage. 

 

Access to recreation and active, healthy lifestyles – Promote active lifestyles and 
community health by furthering access to trails, parks, beaches and other recreation 
opportunities. 

 

The local economy, business diversity and tourism – Strengthen the city’s strong and 
diverse economy and its position as an employment hub in north San Diego County. 
Promote business diversity, increased specialty retail and dining opportunities, and 
Carlsbad’s tourism.  

 

Walking, biking, public transportation and connectivity – Increase travel options through 
enhanced walking, bicycling and public transportation systems. Enhance mobility through 
increased connectivity and intelligent transportation management. 

 

Sustainability – Build on the city’s sustainability initiatives to emerge as a leader in green 
development and sustainability. Pursue public/private partnerships, particularly on 
sustainable water, energy, recycling and foods. 

 

History, the arts and cultural resources – Emphasize the arts by promoting a multitude of 
events and productions year-round and cutting-edge venues to host world class 
performances and celebrate Carlsbad’s cultural heritage in dedicated facilities and 
programs.  

 

High quality education and community services – Support quality, comprehensive 
education and lifelong learning opportunities, provide housing and community services for 
a changing population, and maintain a high standard for citywide public safety.  

 

Neighborhood revitalization, community design and livability – Revitalize neighborhoods 
and enhance citywide community design and livability. Promote a greater mix of uses 
citywide, more activities along the coastline and link density to public transportation. 
Revitalize the downtown Village as a community focal point and a unique and memorable 
center for visitors and rejuvenate the historic Barrio neighborhood. 
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E c o n o m i c  a n d  F i s c a l  I s s u e s  F a c i n g  t h e  C i t y  
 
At the time of developing the Fiscal Year 2022-23 Proposed Budget, the world, nation, state and city continues to 
grapple with the ongoing economic effects of COVID-19. In the City of Carlsbad, the most profound effects have been 
concentrated in the restaurant, travel, entertainment, and leisure and hospitality sectors. Hospitality and tourism 
businesses have been hard-hit over the past two years with fluctuating health order restrictions and consumer 
confidence impacting travel. Hotel occupancy in January 2022 was significantly lower than January 2019 levels. 
However, occupancy rose sharply in recent months, with March 2022 occupancy (75.5%) nearly matching              
March 2019 occupancy levels (76.5%). With the Omicron surge behind us, tourism leaders are optimistic that 
individual and family travel could continue to rise.  
 
Prior to the pandemic, the city boasted a low unemployment rate of 2.9%. At the height of the pandemic, 
unemployment spiked to 13.8%. Over the past two years, the unemployment rate has had some correlation to the 
prevalence of COVID-19 in the region. However, despite the Delta and Omicron surges, which caused an uptick in 
unemployment at the state level in December 2021 (6.5%), unemployment continued to fall at the county and city 
level. The unemployment rate in March 2022 was 4.2% at the state level, 3.4% at the county level, and 3.1% in 
Carlsbad. This is 0.2% above pre-pandemic lows. Currently, many employers are citing difficulty in finding and 
retaining workers. In March 2022, nationally, there were 1.9 open jobs for every unemployed worker. This is one 
underlying cause to increased wage pressures and difficulty in retaining employees.   
 
National interest rates, which dropped significantly during the pandemic, have now eclipsed pre-pandemic rates for 
all categories. One-year rates are currently at 1.63%, ten-year rates are currently at 2.32%, and 30-year rates are at 
2.44%. With current inflation concerns, the Federal Reserve has begun to raise interest rates and indicates plans for 
further rate increases over the next several quarters.  
 
To spawn economic recovery, several federal, state and local programs were approved, providing substantial 
resources for businesses. These include the American Rescue Plan; the Paycheck Protection Program, for which 
Carlsbad companies were recipients at a higher rate than any other North County city in the first round; the                   
State of California Small Business Relief Program; and the City of Carlsbad’s Economic Recovery and Revitalization 
Initiative. Most health order restrictions on businesses have now been lifted since the fiscal year 2021-22 budget 
was adopted on June 8, 2021, and the results have been positive across most of the city’s revenue streams. While 
the city is beginning to have a clearer picture of our revenue outlook, economic uncertainty resulting from inflation 
and geopolitical conflict has created strong demand for conservative revenue projections into the future. 
 
Maintaining good fiscal health must remain a top priority. Meeting this objective preserves the city’s ability to 
continue providing important programs and services to the community. Past economic challenges and prudent 
financial planning have provided opportunities for developing solutions to address lost revenues while preserving 
vital services. Revenues, along with the local economy, are expected to continue to recover as COVID-19 restrictions 
lessen, but this recovery will be partially offset by the end of federal and state aid that was provided as well as 
uncertainties surrounding rising inflation and geopolitical conflict. Expenditures and revenues will need to be closely 
monitored as a result. Disciplined spending and long-term financial planning remain critical to ensuring the future 
sustainability of important city programs and services.  
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L o n g - T e r m  F i n a n c i a l  P l a n n i n g  
 
Strategic planning begins with determining the city's fiscal capacity based upon long-term financial forecasts of 
recurring available revenues and future financial obligations. Prior to the adoption of the annual budget, the finance 
department will prepare a Ten-Year Financial Forecast (“Forecast”) that evaluates known internal and external issues 
impacting the city's financial condition. The methodology for preparing the Forecast can be found in the appendix 
of this document. The Forecast is intended to help the city:  
 

Attain and maintain financial sustainability;  
Have sufficient long-term information to guide financial decisions; 
Have sufficient resources to provide programs and services for the stakeholders; 
Identify potential risks to on-going operations in the long-term financial planning process and communicate 
these risks on an annual basis;  
Establish mechanisms to identify early warning indicators; and  
Identify changes in expenditure or revenue structures needed to deliver services or to meet the goals 
adopted by the City Council.  

 
It is important to stress that the Forecast is not a budget. The Forecast does not dictate expenditure decisions, but 
rather highlights the need to prioritize the allocation of the city’s limited resources to ensure the continuation of 
core city services. The purpose of the plan is to provide the City Council, key stakeholders, and the public an overview 
of the city’s fiscal health based on various financial and service level assumptions over the next ten years. It also 
allows for the discussion of necessary steps to be initiated during the development and implementation of future 
budgets. The Forecast is intended to look beyond the annual budget cycle and serve as a planning tool to bring a 
long-term perspective to the budget process. The Forecast also takes into consideration Council Policies that need 
to be met on an annual basis including General Fund reserve guidelines, pension funding guidelines, etc. Should 
projected expenditures exceed projected revenues in any given year, the City Manager will need to identify steps to 
mitigate the shortfalls prior to presenting a balanced budget to the City Council for consideration during the annual 
budget development process.  
 
It should be noted that the Forecast is a snapshot in time and will change as additional information is made available 
and incorporated into the fiscal projections. The swift fiscal recovery from COVID-19 paired with economic 
uncertainty surrounding inflation and recessionary risk has increased the volatility of projecting future revenues. 
 
The city prepares a long-term financial model for both capital and operating needs. It is imperative that the city plan 
for the impacts of development, the construction and operation of new public facilities, and planning resources 
needed to build them. The city prepares a ten-year operating forecast for the General Fund, a five-year Strategic 
Digital Transformation Investment Program, and a fifteen-year Capital Improvement Program. As part of the new 
Strategic Digital Transformation Investment Program and the Capital Improvement Program, the city annually 
calculates the amounts needed to pay for the projects and calculates the anticipated operating budget impacts. In 
this way, the city can anticipate the effects of development from both a capital and an operating perspective. 
 
One important initiative the city has undertaken to ensure its financial health is the development of an Infrastructure 
Replacement Fund. With this fund, the city sets aside a portion of General Fund revenues on an annual basis for 
major maintenance and replacement of its infrastructure. Much of the city’s infrastructure is relatively new; thus, 
the city is just now experiencing the impact of maintenance requirements. By setting aside funds now, the city’s 
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residents can be assured that the proper maintenance and replacement will be performed, as needed, on streets, 
parks and many facilities for which the city is responsible. 
 
Employee retirement costs continue to require ongoing prudent fiscal management. The City Council issued a 
pension funding policy to codify its commitment to ensure that resources will be available to fulfill the city’s 
contractual retirement promises to its employees, and to minimize the chance that the funding of these benefits will 
interfere with providing essential services to the community. The policy outlines a funding discipline to ensure that 
adequate resources will be accumulated in a systematic and disciplined manner to fund the long-term cost of 
benefits to the plan participants and annuitants. Overall funding levels of the city’s plans are reviewed annually to 
ensure the city’s funding level remains at least 80% – the city’s minimum targeted level. While this enhances the 
city’s funding position, risks remain in the system. Required employer contributions will continue to increase over 
the next few years and actual contribution increases could exceed expectations if future investment return rates or 
other factors are unfavorable. 
 
Revenue and expenditure growth projections  
The city’s forecast considers the annual growth of all currently known elements of city revenues and expenditures. 
Projecting revenues is particularly difficult when considering the short-term impacts of COVID-19 on the economy, 
leaving the timing of an economic rebound and future growth volatility uncertain. When forecasting expenditures, 
some of the major factors considered are rising healthcare and workers’ compensation costs, underperforming 
pension programs, and general inflation in both personnel and operating expenditures. Currently, the city projects 
expenditure growth will outpace revenue growth in the near future. To support the increase in ongoing costs, the 
city will need to consider alternative options, such as ways to increase economic activity that will drive sustainable 
increases in the city’s current revenue base, an expansion of the city’s revenue base, or a reduction of the city’s 
current service offerings and associated costs. 
 
American Rescue Plan Act 
The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 was passed on March 11, 2021 which allocated $12.6 million in COVID-19 
recovery funds to the city. The American Rescue Plan Act provides an infusion of resources to help turn the tide on 
the pandemic, address its economic fallout and lay the foundation for a strong recovery. In accordance with the 
American Rescue Plan Act, funds are allowed to be used through Dec. 31, 2024 and may be used to: 
 

Support urgent COVID-19 response efforts, 
Replace lost public sector lost revenue, 
Support immediate economic stabilization, and 
Address systemic public health and economic challenges. 

 
The funds are restricted from being used to offset tax cuts or for pension liabilities. These funds are provided in two 
tranches: the first tranche, in which $6.3 million was received in May 2021, and the second tranche, was received in 
June 2022. The city has appropriately used the funds as a replacement of revenue to partially offset the negative 
economic impacts from the pandemic. To substantiate the use of these funds for revenue replacement, the American 
Rescue Plan Act requires the city to demonstrate the extent of revenue reduction. Following the final guidance from 
the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the city’s current projected revenue loss from the COVID-19 pandemic is 
estimated to be more than the $12.6 million in funding awarded to the city.  
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F I N A N C I A L  M A N A G E M E N T  P O L I C I E S  
 
Revenue Policies  
The development and maintenance of balanced and reliable revenue streams will be the primary revenue objective 
of the city. Efforts will be directed to optimize existing revenue sources while periodically reviewing potential new 
revenue sources. One method to maximize existing revenue sources it to promote a healthy business climate. 
Revenue estimates will be prepared on an annual basis during the preparation of the budget and major revenue 
categories will be projected on a ten-year basis. Revenues will be estimated conservatively using accepted standards 
and estimates provided by the state and other governmental agencies. Alternative revenue sources will be 
periodically evaluated to determine their applicability to meet identified city needs. Sources of revenue will be 
evaluated and modified as necessary to assure a diversified and growing revenue base that improves the city’s ability 
to handle fluctuations in individual revenue sources.  
 
Revenues from “one-time” or limited duration revenue sources will not be used for ongoing operating expenses. 
Fees and charges for services will be evaluated and, if necessary, adjusted annually to ensure that they generate 
sufficient revenues to meet service delivery costs. The city will establish user charges at a level generally related to 
the full cost (operating, direct, indirect and capital costs) of providing the service, unless the City Council determines 
that a subsidy from the General Fund is in the public interest. The city will also consider market rates and charges 
levied by other municipalities of similar size for like services in establishing rates, fees and charges. Enterprise and 
internal service funds will be self-supporting. 
 
Expenditure and Budget Policies  
Major expenditure categories will be projected on a ten-year basis. The city will operate on a current funding basis. 
Expenditures will be budgeted and controlled so as not to exceed current revenues plus the planned use of any 
accumulated fund balances. Annual budgeted operating expenditures shall not exceed annual operating revenues, 
including budgeted use of reserves, unless directed by the City Council. 
 
The City Manager shall prepare and submit to the City Council annually a proposed operating, strategic digital 
transformation investment program and capital improvement program budget each year, and the budgets will be 
adopted by June 30 of each year. Budget status reports are prepared monthly, distributed to all departments and 
posted on the city’s website. Because the budget is based on estimates, from time to time, it is necessary to make 
adjustments to fine tune the line-items within it. Various levels of administrative control are utilized to maintain the 
budget’s integrity. Program managers are accountable for the line-item level of control of their individual program 
budgets. Department heads are accountable for the fund level of control for funds within their departments. The 
Finance Department oversees the general level of accountability related to budgetary integrity through systematic 
checks and balances and various internal controls. 
 
Council Policy No. 87 – General Fund Surplus Policy outlines the use of surplus funds resulting from unrestricted 
General Fund actual revenues exceeding total actual expenditures, encumbrances, and commitments for a given 
fiscal year. It is the intent of the city to use all surplus funds generated to meet reserve policies, and the reduction 
or avoidance of long-term liabilities. The city will not use year-end surplus funds to fund ongoing operations unless 
otherwise approved by the City Council.   
 
The city will use surplus funds to replenish any General Fund deficiencies, up to the minimum level as set forth in 
Council Policy No. 74 – General Fund Reserve Policy and then any pension liability deficiencies, as defined in                
City Council Policy No. 86 – Pension Funding Policy. 
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The City Manager is authorized to approve the carryforward of any unencumbered and unspent and unencumbered 
budget for a particular item equal to or less than $100,000 into the following fiscal year. These items will be               
one-time expenditures and not for ongoing services, programs or personnel. Any remaining surplus funds in excess 
of reserve and pension liability deficiencies and items equal to or greater than $100,000 will be brought forward for 
City Council approval. 
 
The city adheres to long-range financial planning which forecasts revenues and expenditures over a long-term 
period, using assumptions about economic conditions, future spending scenarios, and other salient variables. 
Financial planning allows the city to execute overall strategies to support the process of aligning financial capacity 
with long-term service objectives. Financial forecasts are updated at least once a year, or more often, if unexpected 
changes in economic conditions or other unforeseen circumstances exist. Any significant changes will be reported 
to the City Manager and the City Council. Otherwise, these financial forecasts will be used as a tool during the 
development of the annual budget process and to set utility rates as needed. 
 
Reserve Policies  
The city formally mandates the levels at which reserves shall be maintained for the General Fund and informally sets 
minimum target levels for the enterprise and internal service funds.  
 
Council Policy No. 74 – General Fund Reserve Policy was most recently updated and approved by the City Council in 
June 2019. The purpose of the policy is to establish a target minimum level of designated reserves in the General 
Fund to: 

Reduce the risk of financial impacts resulting from a natural disaster or other catastrophic events; 
Respond to the challenges of a changing economic environment, including prolonged downturns in the 
local, state or national economy; and 
Demonstrate continued prudent fiscal management and creditworthiness. 

 
The city commits to maintaining General Fund reserves (the term reserve refers to any unassigned fund balance) at 
a target of 40% of General Fund annual operating expenditures. The total reserve level will be calculated using the 
prior year’s adopted General Fund budgeted expenditures. 
 
At the discretion of the City Council, reserve levels in excess of the 40% target requirement may be used for               
one-time opportunity cost purposes. Reserve funds will not be spent for any function other than the specific 
direction in the annual budget or by a separate City Council action. 
 
As a general budget principle concerning the use of reserves, the City Council decides whether to appropriate funds 
from reserves. Reserve funds will not be spent for any function other than the specific purpose of the reserve account 
from which they are drawn without specific direction in the annual budget or by a separate City Council action. 
 
The Wastewater Fund and Water Operating Fund Reserves will target a reserve funding level of 40%. The reserve 
amount is calculated by dividing unassigned fund balance by total budgeted operating expenses plus replacement 
transfers plus budgeted debt service payments. The annual budget process and the setting of utility user rates and 
charges will be used to achieve and maintain the target reserve level. 
 
The city’s Workers’ Compensation Fund will maintain a minimum reserve equal to the estimated outstanding claims 
as calculated by a third-party administrator. Additional reserve amounts may be set aside as deemed appropriate 
based on a third-party actuarial study completed at two year intervals. During the annual budget process, the target 
confidence level will be compared with the projected fund balance, and, if the projected fund balance is greater than 

ix



 

or lesser than the target, a plan to adjust the fund balance will be considered, using either or both increasing 
revenues through interdepartmental charges and one-time cash contributions from those funds contributing to the 
shortfall. 
 
The Risk Management Fund (General Liability) will maintain a minimum reserve equal to the estimated outstanding 
claims as calculated by a third-party administrator. Additional reserve amounts may be set aside as deemed 
appropriate based on a third-party actuarial study completed at two-year intervals. During the annual budget 
process, the reserve level will be compared with the projected fund balance, and, if the projected fund balance is 
greater than or lesser than the target, a plan to adjust the fund balance will be considered, using either or both 
increasing revenues through interdepartmental charges and one-time cash contributions from those funds 
contributing to the shortfall. 
 
The Information Technology Asset Replacement Fund shall maintain a minimum reserve level defined as the amount 
of accumulated depreciation of capitalized assets based on the original cost of each capitalized asset, and up to a 
maximum reserve level defined as the accumulated depreciation based on the estimated replacement cost of each 
capitalized asset. 
 
The Vehicle Asset Replacement Fund shall maintain a minimum reserve level defined as the amount of accumulated 
depreciation of capitalized Fleet assets based on the original cost of each capitalized asset, and up to a maximum 
reserve level defined as the accumulated depreciation based on the estimated replacement cost of each capitalized 
asset. 
 
Investment Policy   
The city has established a formal Investment Policy. It is the policy of the City of Carlsbad to invest public funds not 
required for immediate day-to-day operations in safe, liquid and medium-term investments that shall yield an 
acceptable return while conforming to all California statutes. It is intended that the policy cover the investment 
activities of all contingency reserves and inactive cash under the direct authority of the city. Investments of the city 
and its component units will be made on a pooled basis; however, investments of bond proceeds will be held 
separately if required. 
 
Pension Funding Policy   
The city’s Council Policy No. 86 – Pension Funding Policy embodies funding and accounting principles to ensure that 
resources will be available to fulfill the city’s contractual promises to its employees. The policy objectives include 
using actuarially determined contributions, or ADC, provided by CalPERS, funding the full amount of the ADC each 
year, maintaining no less than a combined minimum of 80% funded ratio, and demonstrating accountability and 
transparency by communicating all information necessary for assessing the city’s progress toward meeting its 
pension funding objectives. 
 
In the event the city is unable to meet the minimum combined pension funded ratio of 80% with current resources 
(i.e., without borrowing or using reserves), the Finance Director will identify a reasonable period to return to a 
minimum 80% funded ratio status. 
 
Long Term General Fund Capital Funding Policy 
The city’s Council Policy No. 91 – Long Term General Fund Capital Funding Policy ensures the needs of the city are 
met and demonstrates continued prudent fiscal management by providing a funding source for long-term, large 
value capital purchases. Many city assets demand large capital expenditures, examples include roads, building, parks, 
and information technology infrastructure. The city funds the General Fund portion of these necessary investments 
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by adopting an annual budget that includes a transfer from the General Fund to one or more of the city’s long-term 
capital funds. These long-term capital funds include the General Capital Construction Fund, the Infrastructure 
Replacement Fund and the Technology Investment Capital Fund. The city commits to targeting a transfer to the city’s 
long-term capital funds of 6% of budgeted General Fund revenues. The transfers are proposed during the annual 
budget process or on an as needed basis for the City Council’s consideration. 
 
Full versions of these policies and other City Council policies are available on the city’s website at 
www.carlsbadca.gov/city-hall/laws-policies/council-policies.  
 
S t r a t e g i c  D i g i t a l  T r a n s f o r m a t i o n  I n v e s t m e n t  P r o g r a m   
 
The Strategic Digital Transformation Investment Program, or SDTIP, is a comprehensive approach to planning for 
and funding digital transformation efforts throughout the city. It is informed by the City Council approved Connected 
Carlsbad: An Inclusive City Innovation Roadmap, the Internal Digital Information Network Action Plan, the 
Information Technology Strategy, and complimented by a five-year projected roadmap of digital transformation 
investments. The SDTIP is the strategic plan for technology and digital transformation combined with project 
descriptions, costs, funding sources and timelines. The purpose of this program, new for fiscal year 2021-22, is to 
provide for an annual investment strategy, not a commitment for spending, and outlines a five-year expenditure 
plan for future digital transformation and technology projects and the corresponding revenues necessary to pay for 
them. 
 
This investment program is organized into the five primary goal areas approved by the City Council:  
 

Pursue Communitywide Digital Transformation focuses on the foundational elements, including 
connectivity, up-to-date hardware and software, and a robust security strategy while providing an 
aspirational vision for the future. 
Build Capacity for Data-Driven Government focuses on the policies, procedures and staffing necessary for 
the city to fully capture the value of emerging models of data analytics. 
Foster a Vibrant Civic Engagement Culture builds upon the first two goals with a human- centered 
perspective that an engaged city that uses data and technology in a way that respects people and their 
privacy will support a vibrant culture where residents, organizations and businesses are invested in their 
community and its future. 
Enhance Accessibility and Transparency recognizes that open government and approaching                     
problem-solving from an accessibility perspective leads to better outcomes for all. 
Promote Safety and Sustainability Through Connectivity leads to understanding the interconnected nature 
of our communities that can achieve environmental, mobility and sustainability goals when approached in 
a cross-departmental and community informed manner. 

 
Projects will receive an appropriation that authorizes spending in the amount specified for the adopted fiscal year 
only. Estimated budget information is shown for a five-year period to provide the most comprehensive information 
about known future projects. Spending authority in future years is not granted until adoption of the annual proposed 
SDTIP budget associated with each year.  
 
The Information Technology (IT) Department is organized into five divisions: Enterprise Applications, Infrastructure 
and Operations, Geographic Information Systems, Public Safety Technology and Administration. These five divisions 
work together to provide services in three core areas that are crucial to digital transformation efforts: 
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I n v e s t i n g  i n  D i g i t a l  T r a n s f o r m a t i o n  
 
As the city continues to grow and develop, the use of technology has also grown exponentially over the last two 
decades. The SDTIP outlines the financial resources needed to ensure that the technology infrastructure is in place 
to enable the city to provide services to the community. Prudent financial planning will ensure that ongoing funding 
for investment in technology is available.  
 

S D T I P  P r o j e c t  E v a l u a t i o n  
 
Making decisions on technology implementations is a challenging and complex task. The challenging nature of these 
decisions is exacerbated by the expanding reach of technology and the increasingly interdisciplinary nature of 
emerging technologies. A major component of the SDTIP is the establishment of a cross-departmental approach to 
technology leadership to evaluate, prioritize, budget for and adopt digital transformation efforts. A new 
administrative order has been developed that provides a collaborative forum for key staff to validate and prioritize 
technology implementations. This approach also provides a structured venue to explore how particular 
configurations of a technology implementation may positively or negatively affect others within the organization. 
The process to evaluate digital transformation initiatives is ongoing and meetings may be held on a monthly, 
bimonthly or quarterly basis depending on the need. 
 
A number of factors are considered when putting 
together projects for the five-year program. All 
digital transformation and technology projects shall 
be consistent categories on the right. 
 
Proposed projects are evaluated and prioritized by a 
set of criteria that include: 
 

Alignment with City Council goals and IT 
strategic plans, architecture, security and 
technology standards, including legislative 
and regulatory mandates, and other goals 
Coordination of IT investments across the 
enterprise to avoid duplication, maximizing 
the return on investment and increasing 
efficiency 
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Effective articulation of the business case including valid operational benefits of the project 
Accuracy and reasonableness of cost and benefit estimates 
Consideration of potential project risks and identification of appropriate means to manage those risks 
Adherence to standard project management practices 
Capacity of staffing resources to implement the project 

 
As the SDTIP is implemented throughout the year, staff will continually re-evaluate projects’ scopes, costs and 
schedules to responsibly and cost-effectively manage city resources. 
 

S D T I P  F i s c a l  Y e a r  2 0 2 1 - 2 2  A p p r o p r i a t i o n s   
 
In fiscal year 2021-22, there are approximately 33 continuing and new projects planned over the next five years at 
an estimated total cost of $26.9 million. Included in the $26.9 million is approximately $15.4 million in estimated 
new costs over the course of the same timeframe to provide additional funding for the continuation of existing 
projects as well as funding for new projects. Within the $15.4 million is approximately $4.9 million of estimated new 
appropriations for fiscal year 2021-22 for these same projects. 

 
Pursue Communitywide Digital Transformation
$13.1 million  

This goal includes updating connectivity, providing up-to-date hardware and software, and a robust security strategy. 
 
Build Capacity for Data-driven Decision Making 
$0.8 million 

This goal’s projects include the policies, procedures and staffing necessary for the city to fully capture the value of 
emerging models of data analytics. It also includes building a comprehensive approach to citywide data management 
to enable data-rich key performance metrics and effective operation of city departments. A data policy and resources 
will be created to align departments with standards of data cataloging for compliance ease of data sharing 
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$26.94 million
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Foster a Vibrant Civic Engagement Culture 
$1.6 million 

The city’s civic engagement culture builds upon the first two goals with a human-centered perspective that an 
engaged city that uses data and technology in a way that respects people and their privacy. Projects in this category 
will support a vibrant culture where residents, organizations and businesses are invested in their community and its 
future.   
 
Enhance Accessibility and Transparency 
$1.7 million 

This goal recognizes that open government and approaching problem-solving from an accessibility perspective leads 
to better outcomes for all. Projects in this category include Civic Engagement with Open Data, Online 
Permitting/Electronic Reviews, Records Management System and a Virtual Permitting Counter.  
 
Promote Security and Sustainability through Connectivity 
$9.7 million 
 
Projects in this goal include the annual replacement of hardware and technology infrastructure, a Facility Security 
Master Plan, the replacement of the Police Computer Aided Dispatch System and a Unified Communication System 
to replace the city’s aging phone system. 
 

S D T I P  F u t u r e  A p p r o p r i a t i o n s  
 
The City of Carlsbad’s SDTIP for fiscal year 2021-22 to fiscal year 2025-26 outlines 33 projects at an estimated total 
cost of $26.94 million. Of the $26.94 million, $15.41 million is for new or increased funding for projects over the next 
five years. The information provided for future years reflects the most comprehensive snapshot of known or 
anticipated future projects as well as associated estimated costs.  
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C a p i t a l  I m p r o v e m e n t  P r o g r a m  

The City of Carlsbad Capital Improvement Program, or CIP, reflects the city’s 
ongoing commitment to maintaining the highest standards of quality 
facilities for the community today and in the future. It is a planning 
document, not a commitment for spending. The 15-year program outlines 
the expenditure plan for future capital projects and the corresponding 
revenues to pay for those expenditures. 
 
Projects that are shown in the CIP are generally defined as any construction, 
rehabilitation or replacement of major infrastructure such as streets, 
libraries, parks, fire stations and administrative facilities, water, sewer and 
drainage facilities, and other facilities that are located on or in the ground. In 
most cases, the total construction cost of each of these assets is recorded 
and tracked as part of the city’s inventory of capital infrastructure assets and 
other city-owned property. 

Once the City Council adopts the proposed annual CIP budget, projects receive an appropriation that authorizes 
spending in the amount specified for the adopted fiscal year only. Estimated budget information is shown for a           
15-year period to provide the most comprehensive information about known future projects. Spending authority in 
future years is not granted until adoption of the annual proposed CIP budget associated with each year.  

Carlsbad’s philosophy is to take a proactive, long-range planning approach to building high quality facilities and 
infrastructure that support the needs and priorities of the community. The CIP is organized by the following project 
classifications: 
 

I n v e s t i n g  i n  Q u a l i t y  o f  L i f e  

As the city continues to grow and develop, there is a corresponding increase in the demand for development-related 
services and new facilities. To ensure that the necessary infrastructure and facilities are built on a schedule that 
meets or exceeds this demand, the citizens of Carlsbad adopted a Growth Management Plan in 1986. The plan was 
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established to manage development within the city by linking residential, commercial, and industrial development 
directly to standards for availability of public services and facilities.   
 
The Growth Management Plan states that unless a standard level of facilities is available to meet new demands 
resulting from the city’s growth, development cannot proceed. Recently, certain actions, such as imposing a 
moratorium, have been determined to be impermissible by the California Housing and Community Development 
Department, per Senate Bill 330, Housing Crisis Act of 2019, which became effective on Jan. 1, 2020. 
 
The detailed level of planning required by Growth Management has allowed the city’s CIP to anticipate the funding 
needed for capital improvements in the next 15 years. Facilities such as community centers, parks and fire stations 
have been constructed and opened to the public under this program.   
 
The CIP has been designed to specifically address areas where new or expanded facilities will be needed to maintain 
compliance with the adopted performance standards. With the adoption of the fiscal year 2021-22 CIP, compliance 
with the Growth Management Plan is continued. 
 
Prudent financial planning has ensured ongoing funding to modernize, repair, and replace existing infrastructure 
projects through numerous asset management programs, which ensure adequate inspection, maintenance, and 
replacement of buildings and parks, water, sewer and drainage systems, bridges, and roadways systems. 
 
C I P  P r o j e c t  E v a l u a t i o n   
 
Development of the CIP is a team effort involving all operational departments, the City Manager’s Office, the City 
Council, and the community. Community feedback on infrastructure needs is considered and incorporated as 
appropriate. The CIP is fully vetted at multiple levels of the city organization by appropriate staff using an inclusive 
and transparent process, and reviewed on a quarterly basis.  
  
As the CIP is implemented throughout 
the year, staff continually re-evaluate 
projects’ scopes, costs and schedules to 
responsibly and cost-effectively 
manage infrastructure assets at the 
required levels of service throughout 
their lifecycle. Recommendations for 
project funding consider current 
project status, project scheduling and 
sequencing requirements, project 
constraints, and current staff capacity. 
Project charters are updated to include 
project description, location, summary 
of need, justification including any 
legislative or policy citations, cost 
estimates, and project scores.   
 
In anticipation of revenue decreases in some capital funding sources, staff recommended funding adjustments in 
fiscal year 2021-22 that focused on matching existing resources with realistic and achievable project schedules. New 
project requests were minimized and the city remains committed to continue work on projects that are already 
underway.  
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C I P  F i s c a l  Y e a r  2 0 2 1 - 2 2  A p p r o p r i a t i o n s   
 
In the fiscal year 2021-22 CIP, there are approximately 254 continuing and new projects planned over the next             
15 years. The fiscal year 2021-22 CIP outlines $56.2 million in new appropriations to provide additional funding for 
the continuation of existing projects as well as funding for 21 new projects. Projected revenues during the same 
fiscal year are estimated at $65.8 million.  

 
 
Civic Buildings and Facility Maintenance 
$8.2 million  

 
This category includes a variety of facilities such as fire stations, libraries and the new City Hall. Costs include repair, 
maintenance and replacement of civic buildings. 
 

Parks 
$2.6 million 

 
Projects include improvements and enhancements to existing parks, such as playground resurfacing, picnic areas 
and other needs identified by the community and in recently updated parks master plans. 

 
Drainage 
$7.2 million 

 
The city’s drainage infrastructure plays an important role in handling storm water runoff flows, as well as maintaining 
the water quality of the city’s creeks, lagoons and ocean. As the city continues to age, it is increasingly necessary to 
balance repairing and replacing the existing lines with enhancing the current infrastructure to accommodate future 
needs.   
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Wastewater 
$11.5 million 

 
The city’s sewer, or wastewater, projects include numerous pipeline construction and rehabilitation projects, as well 
as improvements to the Encina Wastewater Treatment facility. Most new lines are built and paid for with impact 
fees collected with new development.  

 
Water and Recycled Water 
$3.1 million 

 
Future water and recycled water projects include construction of new pipe lines, replacement of existing waterlines 
and reservoir improvements. The Carlsbad Municipal Water District has been producing and delivering recycled 
water for over 30 years. 

Transportation 
$23.6 million 

 
People of all ages and abilities want to go places safely and conveniently in Carlsbad, whether they drive, walk, bike, 
or ride a bus or train. Carlsbad continues to invest in modernizing roads, leveraging technology to improve traffic 
systems, and making timely repairs and rehabilitation of the roadways, bridges, sidewalks and other assets in public 
rights-of-way throughout the city.  
 
C I P  F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  

The CIP for fiscal year 2021-22 to fiscal year 2035-36 outlines approximately 254 projects at a cost of $669 million in 
new or additional funding. Long-range planning and responsible asset management play key roles in the 
development of future capital projects. Using data from various infrastructure master plans, ongoing asset condition 
assessments, technical modelling, field inspections as well as community feedback, the information provided for 
future years reflects the most comprehensive snapshot of known or anticipated future projects as well as associated 
estimated costs.  
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Unfunded Projects 
 
There are six projects identified in the Capital Improvement Program for which there is no identifiable funding source 
and, in some cases, where only partial funding has been identified. The city will investigate obtaining possible 
external funding, such as federal and state grants, loans, or other financing sources. Once funding is identified for 
these projects, the project costs will have to be reviewed and updated to reflect actual cost estimates. The unfunded 
projects do not receive annual inflationary increases. Two projects are partially funded by the Traffic Impact Fee 
Program. The program was planned to generate enough revenue to pay for 20% of the total costs of these projects, 
leaving the remaining 80% unfunded. 
 

 
 
A w a r d s  a n d  A c k n o w l e d g e m e n t s  
 
The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the United States and Canada awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the city for its Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. This was the 24th consecutive year that the city has achieved this prestigious award. 
To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently 
organized Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. This report must satisfy both GAAP and applicable legal 
requirements. 
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The city strives to annually produce an                
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report which will continue to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s 
requirements. This report will be also submitted to GFOA to determine eligibility for another certificate. 
 
This report has been a comprehensive effort by many people from many different areas of responsibility. It could 
not have been accomplished without their help and the dedicated efforts of all of the finance staff, especially 
Roxanne Muhlmeister, Assistant Finance Director and Kim Riboni, Senior Accountant. I also appreciate the staff of 
Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP for the professional way in which the audit of this financial report was conducted. It has 
been a pleasure to work with them. Additionally, I would like to thank the City Council, the City Manager and the 
city’s Executive Management Team for their leadership and unfailing support in maintaining the highest standards 
of professionalism in the management of the city’s finances. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Zach Korach 
Finance Director 

Business Park Recreational Facility (partial funded) 6,600,000$           
Cannon Lake Park (6.7 acres) 2,243,000             
Carlsbad Blvd. Mountain View to Northerly City Limits (partially funded) 6,905,600             
Carlsbad Blvd. and Palomar Airport Road (partially funded) 14,109,600           
Carlsbad Blvd. Realignment (segments 3-5) 26,100,000           
College Boulevard Extension 30,000,000           
Total Unfunded Projects 85,958,200$         
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

Assets:
Cash and investments 614,626,048$     193,144,796$  807,770,844$     
Receivables:

Accounts 1,838,626           12,951,740      14,790,366         
Taxes 14,756,103         38,120             14,794,223         
Notes and loans 24,430,300         -                       24,430,300         
Accrued interest 5,948,421           737,441           6,685,862           
Leases 12,818,490         5,227,767        18,046,257         
Other 1,410,454           658,697           2,069,151           

Internal balances (1,624,476)          1,624,476        -                          
Prepaid costs 2,611,446           138,167           2,749,613           
Deposits 200,432              -                       200,432              
Due from other governments 1,135,702           1,703,213        2,838,915           
Inventories 270,831              940,963           1,211,794           
Land held for resale 1,633,816           -                       1,633,816           
Net OPEB asset 611,298              71,367             682,665              
Capital assets:

Land 160,619,596       9,330,718        169,950,314       
Construction in progress 36,891,555         17,436,454      54,328,009         
Buildings and other structures 138,281,470       41,391,888      179,673,358       
Improvements other than buildings 103,902,694       56,202,412      160,105,106       
Machinery and equipment 56,253,190         14,007,845      70,261,035         
Infrastructure 752,669,574       404,212,142    1,156,881,716    
Wastewater treatment facility -                          64,373,642      64,373,642         
Intangible assets 6,483,648           -                       6,483,648           
Right-of-use assets 25,067                -                       25,067                
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization (446,589,445)      (239,024,221)   (685,613,666)      

Total capital assets 808,537,349       367,930,880    1,176,468,229    

          Total Assets 1,489,204,840    585,167,627    2,074,372,467    

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred outflows of resources - pension related items 36,590,345         2,396,626        38,986,971         
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB related items 2,776,216           521,162           3,297,378           

          Total Deferred Outflows
          of Resources 39,366,561         2,917,788        42,284,349         

Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities 33,406,616         4,063,846        37,470,462         
Accrued interest -                          36,886             36,886                
Unearned revenue 966,676              220,670           1,187,346           
Deposits payable 8,344,345           1,101,216        9,445,561           
Due to other governments 4,377                  8,658,806        8,663,183           
Estimated claims payable 16,909,815         -                       16,909,815         
Noncurrent liabilities:
    Net pension liability 72,807,703         4,815,423        77,623,126         
    Due within one year 2,331                  1,698,146        1,700,477           
    Due in more than one year 20,046                10,745,391      10,765,437         

          Total Liabilities 132,461,909       31,340,384      163,802,293       

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred inflows of resources - pension related items 59,156,694         5,000,382        64,157,076         
Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB related items 2,904,470           405,483           3,309,953           
Deferred inflows of resources - lease related items 12,631,620         5,137,227        17,768,847         

          Total Deferred Inflows
          of Resources 74,692,784         10,543,092      85,235,876         

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 808,514,972       355,487,343    1,164,002,315    
Restricted for:
    Affordable housing 41,413,098         -                       41,413,098         
    Community services 4,800,600           -                       4,800,600           
    Lighting and landscape districts 9,635,449           -                       9,635,449           
    General government 806,261              -                       806,261              
    Public safety 646,543              -                       646,543              
    Capital projects 191,966,807       38,948,782      230,915,589       
Unrestricted 263,632,978       151,765,814    415,398,792       

          Total Net Position 1,321,416,708$  546,201,939$  1,867,618,647$  

JUNE 30, 2022

Primary Government

See Notes to Financial Statement.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Operating Capital
Charges for Contributions Contributions

Expenses Services and Grants and Grants

Functions/Programs
Primary Government:
Governmental Activities:

General government 14,806,007$    626,894$         7,250,233$      301,514$         
Public safety 81,129,635      5,899,478        653,447           -                       
Community services 58,953,827      8,670,737        12,259,274      342,149           
Public works 39,204,155      4,246,837        218,816           9,278,762        
Interest on long-term debt 14,535             -                       -                       -                       

      Total Governmental Activities 194,108,159    19,443,946      20,381,770      9,922,425        

Business-Type Activities:
Carlsbad Municipal Water District 53,597,583      49,193,720      170,432           499,460           

      SGolf Course 11,708,230      10,424,281      -                       -                       
      SWastewater 17,905,503      16,282,173      2,287               358,072           
      Solid Waste 4,737,745        3,684,383        10,265             -                       

Total Business-Type Activities 87,949,061      79,584,557      182,984           857,532           

Total Primary Government 282,057,220$  99,028,503$    20,564,754$    10,779,957$    

General Revenues:
Taxes:
   Property taxes, levied for general purpose
   Transient occupancy taxes
   Sales taxes
   Franchise taxes
   Real property transfer taxes
   Business license taxes
Use of money and property
Other

Transfers

   Total General Revenues,
      and Transfers

   Change in Net Position

Net Position at Beginning of Year

Net Position at End of Year

Program Revenues

See Notes to Financial Statement.
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Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

(6,627,366)$         -$                     (6,627,366)$           
(74,576,710)         -                       (74,576,710)           
(37,681,667)         -                       (37,681,667)           
(25,459,740)         -                       (25,459,740)           

(14,535)                -                       (14,535)                  

(144,360,018)       -                       (144,360,018)         

-                           (3,733,971)       (3,733,971)             
-                           (1,283,949)       (1,283,949)             
-                           (1,262,971)       (1,262,971)             
-                           (1,043,097)       (1,043,097)             

-                           (7,323,988)       (7,323,988)             

(144,360,018)       (7,323,988)       (151,684,006)         

81,012,174          4,715,280        85,727,454            
32,402,771          -                       32,402,771            
51,175,423          -                       51,175,423            
6,370,942            -                       6,370,942              
2,178,717            -                       2,178,717              
6,619,296            -                       6,619,296              

(22,062,942)         (7,656,356)       (29,719,298)           
1,261,864            2,257,871        3,519,735              

(1,315,748)           1,315,748        -                             

157,642,497        632,543           158,275,040          

13,282,479          (6,691,445)       6,591,034              

1,308,134,229     552,893,384    1,861,027,613       

1,321,416,708$   546,201,939$  1,867,618,647$     

Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net Position

See Notes to Financial Statement.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS       
JUNE 30, 2022

General
Assets:
Pooled cash and investments 158,349,259$      12,127,754$    92,158,241$    113,950,826$  
Receivables:

Accounts 365,966               1,429,966        6,892               -                       
Taxes 14,754,343          -                       1,760               -                       
Notes and loans 947,196               -                       -                       -                       
Accrued interest 818,174               46,248             353,108           434,546           
Leases 8,294,960            -                       1,425,458        -                       
Other 1,158,590            -                       -                       -                       

Prepaid costs 50,968                 -                       -                       -                       
Deposits 200,432               -                       -                       -                       
Due from other governments 162,706               -                       -                       -                       
Advances to other funds 1,203,163            -                       1,397,070        -                       
Inventories 10,113                 -                       -                       -                       
Land held for resale -                           -                       -                       -                       

     Total Assets 186,315,870$      13,603,968$    95,342,529$    114,385,372$  

Liabilities, Deferred inflows of Resources, 
and Fund Balances:
Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities 7,234,929$          13,059,041$    110,788$         1,220,866$      
Unearned revenues 964,728               -                       -                       -                       
Deposits payable 7,827,395            -                       13,000             -                       
Due to other governments -                           -                       -                       -                       
Advances from other funds -                           -                       -                       -                       

     Total Liabilities 16,027,052          13,059,041      123,788           1,220,866        

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenues 11,563                 1,429,966        -                       -                       
Lease related items 8,138,644            -                       1,395,219        -                       

     Total Deferred inflows of Resources 8,150,207            1,429,966        1,395,219        -                       

Fund Balances:
  Nonspendable:
    Inventory 10,113                 -                       -                       -                       
    Prepaid costs 50,968                 -                       -                       -                       
    Notes and loans 947,196               -                       -                       -                       
    Advances to other funds 1,203,163            -                       -                       -                       
  Restricted for:
    Affordable, low and moderate income housing -                           -                       -                       -                       
    Community services -                           -                       -                       -                       
    Lighting and landscaping districts -                           -                       -                       -                       
    General government -                           -                       -                       -                       
    Public safety -                           -                       -                       -                       
    Capital projects -                           -                       93,823,522      -                       
  Committed to:
    Community activity grants 1,000,000            -                       -                       -                       
  Assigned to:
    Capital Projects -                           -                       -                       113,164,506    
    General government 1,845,805            -                       -                       -                       
    Public safety 7,474,873            -                       -                       -                       
    Community services 5,043,458            -                       -                       -                       
    Public works 3,269,071            -                       -                       -                       
    Deposits 9,103,528            -                       -                       -                       
    Fleet maintenance 1,400,000            -                       -                       -                       
    Risk management 1,000,000            -                       -                       -                       
    Workers' compensation 8,208,252            -                       -                       -                       
    Safer streets local emergency 2,000,000            -                       -                       -                       
    Economic uncertainty 9,635,909            -                       -                       -                       
  Unassigned 109,946,275        (885,039)          -                       -                       

     Total Fund Balances 162,138,611        (885,039)          93,823,522      113,164,506    

     Total Liabilities, deferred inflows of 
     resources, and Fund Balances 186,315,870$      13,603,968$    95,342,529$    114,385,372$  

 Capital Projects Funds 
 Bridge 

Thoroughfare 
Districts (BTD) 

 Community 
Facilities 

District #1 

 Infrastructure 
Replacement 

Fund 

See Notes to Financial Statement.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2022

Assets:
Pooled cash and investments
Receivables:

Accounts
Taxes
Notes and loans
Accrued interest
Leases
Other

Prepaid costs
Deposits
Due from other governments
Advances to other funds
Inventories
Land held for resale

     Total Assets

Liabilities, Deferred inflows of Resources, 
and Fund Balances:
Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenues
Deposits payable
Due to other governments
Advances from other funds

     Total Liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenues
Lease related items

     Total Deferred inflows of Resources

Fund Balances:
  Nonspendable:
    Inventory
    Prepaid costs
    Notes and loans
    Advances to other funds
  Restricted for:
    Affordable, low and moderate income housing
    Community services
    Lighting and landscaping districts
    General government
    Public safety
    Capital projects
  Committed to:
    Community activity grants
  Assigned to:
    Capital Projects
    General government
    Public safety
    Community services
    Public works
    Deposits
    Fleet maintenance
    Risk management
    Workers' compensation
    Safer streets local emergency
    Economic uncertainty
  Unassigned

     Total Fund Balances

     Total Liabilities, deferred inflows of 
     resources, and Fund Balances

Other Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

187,128,465$      563,714,545$      

22,996                 1,825,820            
-                           14,756,103          

23,483,104          24,430,300          
4,124,581            5,776,657            
3,098,072            12,818,490          

251,864               1,410,454            
157,235               208,203               

-                           200,432               
972,996               1,135,702            

5,650,000            8,250,233            
3,460                   13,573                 

1,633,816            1,633,816            

226,526,589$      636,174,328$      

4,291,259$          25,916,883$        
1,948                   966,676               

501,982               8,342,377            
4,377                   4,377                   

8,250,233            8,250,233            

13,049,799          43,480,546          

3,605,550            5,047,079            
3,097,757            12,631,620          

6,703,307            17,678,699          

3,460                   13,573                 
157,235               208,203               

-                           947,196               
-                           1,203,163            

41,413,098          41,413,098          
4,800,600            4,800,600            
9,635,449            9,635,449            

806,261               806,261               
646,543               646,543               

98,143,285          191,966,807        

-                           1,000,000            

51,184,119          164,348,625        
-                           1,845,805            
-                           7,474,873            
-                           5,043,458            
-                           3,269,071            
-                           9,103,528            
-                           1,400,000            
-                           1,000,000            
-                           8,208,252            
-                           2,000,000            
-                           9,635,909            

(16,567)                109,044,669        
206,773,483        575,015,083        

226,526,589$      636,174,328$      
See Notes to Financial Statement.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2022

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Total fund balances - governmental funds 575,015,083$       

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Capital assets, not being depreciated 197,360,455      
Capital assets, being depreciated 1,017,231,025   
Right to use leased assets 25,067               
Less: accumulated depreciation/amortization (427,334,988)     787,281,559         

Long-term liabilities that are not due and payable in the current period, and therefore, are
not reported in the funds.

Net pension liability (70,084,572)       
Net OPEB asset 558,119             
Lease liability (22,377)             (69,548,830)         

Difference between expected and actual experiences, assumptions changes and net
differences between projected and actual earnings and contributions subsequent to the
measurement date for the postretirement benefits (pension and OPEB) are recognized as
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources on the statement of
position.

Deferred outflows - pension related 35,235,047        
Deferred outflows - OPEB related 2,626,883          
Deferred inflows - pension related (56,328,967)       
Deferred inflows - OPEB related (2,687,301)         (21,154,338)         

Revenues reported as unavailable revenue in the governmental funds are recognized
in the statement of activities. 5,047,079            

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities, such as equipment and technology replacement, to individual funds.
The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds must be added to the 
statement of net position. 44,776,155           

Net Position of Governmental Activities 1,321,416,708$    

See Notes to Financial Statement.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS       
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

     General    
Revenues:
Taxes 178,762,522$      -$                    996,801$           -$                    
Licenses and permits 3,233,321            -                      -                        -                      
Intergovernmental 7,868,957            -                      -                        -                      
Contribution from property owners -                          -                      459,861             -                      
Charges for services 9,828,529            -                      -                        -                      
Use of money and property (5,570,530)          (518,574)          (3,743,035)         (4,882,683)       
Fines and forfeitures 342,948               -                      -                        -                      
Contributions 26,226                 -                      -                        -                      
Miscellaneous 1,187,314            -                      -                        -                      

               Total Revenues 195,679,287        (518,574)          (2,286,373)         (4,882,683)       

Expenditures:
Current:
   General government 21,995,629          -                      58,064               -                      
   Less: interdepartmental charges (5,314,617)          -                      -                        -                      
   Public safety 81,961,117          -                      -                        -                      
   Community services 44,972,128          -                      -                        -                      
   Public works 20,131,996          -                      -                        -                      
Capital outlay 2,719,612            13,059,041      542,022             6,701,080        
Debt service:
      Principal retirement 2,690                  -                      -                        -                      
      Interest and fiscal charges -                          -                      -                        -                      

               Total Expenditures 166,468,555        13,059,041      600,086             6,701,080        

               Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
                 Over (Under) Expenditures 29,210,732          (13,577,615)     (2,886,459)         (11,583,763)     

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers in 10,000                 -                      -                        383,800           
Transfers out (26,927,804)         -                      -                        -                      
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                          -                      -                        -                      
Proceeds from leases 25,067                 -                      -                        -                      

               Total Other Financing Sources
                 (Uses) (26,892,737)         -                      -                        383,800           

               Net Change in Fund Balances 2,317,995            (13,577,615)     (2,886,459)         (11,199,963)     

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 159,820,616        12,692,576      96,709,981        124,364,469    

Fund Balances, End of Year 162,138,611$      (885,039)$        93,823,522$      113,164,506$  

 Capital Projects Funds 

 Bridge 
Thoroughfare 
Districts (BTD) 

 Community 
Facilities 
District #1 

 Infrastructure 
Replacement 

Fund 

See Notes to Financial Statement.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

 
Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Contribution from property owners
Charges for services
Use of money and property
Fines and forfeitures
Contributions
Miscellaneous

               Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
   General government
   Less: interdepartmental charges
   Public safety
   Community services
   Public works
Capital outlay
Debt service:
      Principal retirement
      Interest and fiscal charges

               Total Expenditures

               Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
                 Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Proceeds from sale of capital asset
Proceeds from leases

               Total Other Financing Sources
                 (Uses)

               Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year

Fund Balances, End of Year

Other Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

5,073,071$      184,832,394$      
-                      3,233,321            

13,064,283      20,933,240          
2,739,702        3,199,563            
5,130,988        14,959,517          

(5,403,362)       (20,118,184)         
2,672               345,620               

354,157           380,383               
74,550             1,261,864            

21,036,061      209,027,718        

378,918           22,432,611          
-                      (5,314,617)          

263,971           82,225,088          
14,519,101      59,491,229          
1,924,494        22,056,490          

23,992,646      47,014,401          

-                      2,690                  
14,535             14,535                 

41,093,665      227,922,427        

(20,057,604)     (18,894,709)         

25,579,968      25,973,768          
(260,912)          (27,188,716)         
199,679           199,679               

-                      25,067                 

25,518,735      (990,202)             

5,461,131        (19,884,911)         

201,312,352    594,899,994        

206,773,483$  575,015,083$      

See Notes to Financial Statement.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (19,884,911)$     

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of these assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which
capital outlays was less than depreciation expense in the current period.

Capital outlay 41,874,701$      
Loss on disposal of capital assets (1,487,736)         
Depreciation/amortization (22,824,158)       17,562,807        

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources
and therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds.

Changes in pension liabilities and related deferred outflows and inflows of resources 15,729,318        
Changes in OPEB assets and related deferred outflows and inflows of resources 507,949             16,237,267        

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as
revenues in the funds. 382,169             

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities, such as equipment and technology replacement, to individual funds.
The net revenues of the internal service funds are reported with governmental
activities. (1,014,853)         

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 13,282,479$      

See Notes to Financial Statement.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS     
JUNE 30, 2022

Governmental
Other Activities-

Enterprise Internal
Funds Totals Service Funds

Assets:
Current:

Cash and investments 133,925,207    41,795,736      17,423,853 $      193,144,796$      50,911,503 $      
Receivables:

Accounts, net of allowances 8,878,454        3,065,451        1,007,835        12,951,740          12,806             
Taxes 38,120             -                       -                       38,120                 -                       
Accrued interest 517,111           159,386           60,944             737,441               171,764           
Lease 154,627           -                       55,813             210,440               -                       
Other -                       -                       658,697           658,697               -                       

Prepaid costs 54,666             -                       83,501             138,167               2,403,243        
Due from other governments 1,060,813        642,400           -                       1,703,213            -                       
Inventories 747,478           17,366             176,119           940,963               257,258           

Total Current Assets 145,376,476    45,680,339      19,466,762      210,523,577        53,756,574      

Noncurrent:
Net OPEB asset 43,801             23,776             3,790               71,367                 53,179             
Lease receivable 3,716,647        -                       1,300,680        5,017,327            -                       
Capital assets

Land 1,914,871        2,629,102        4,786,745        9,330,718            -                       
Construction in progress 2,586,907        14,842,916      6,631               17,436,454          150,696           
Buildings and other structures 21,221,437      -                       20,170,451      41,391,888          -                       
Improvements other than buildings 5,006,736        7,134,824        44,060,852      56,202,412          -                       
Machinery and equipment 10,989,380      1,081,858        1,936,607        14,007,845          37,203,714      
Infrastructure 263,641,244    140,570,898    404,212,142        -                       
Wastewater treatment facility -                       64,373,642      64,373,642          -                       
Intangible assets -                       -                       -                           3,155,837        
Less accumulated depreciation (102,391,484)   (89,373,278)     (47,259,459)     (239,024,221)       (19,254,457)     

Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 202,969,091    141,259,962    23,701,827      367,930,880        21,255,790      

Total Noncurrent Assets 206,729,539    141,283,738    25,006,297      373,019,574        21,308,969      

Total Assets 352,106,015    186,964,077    44,473,059      583,543,151        75,065,543      

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred outflows of resources - pension related items 1,428,557        629,681           338,388           2,396,626            1,355,298        
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB related items 373,738           86,954             60,470             521,162               149,333           

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,802,295        716,635           398,858           2,917,788            1,504,631        

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds
 Carlsbad 
Municipal 

Water District  Wastewater 

See Notes to Financial Statement. 36



CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS     
JUNE 30, 2022

Governmental
Other Activities-

Enterprise Internal
Funds Totals Service Funds

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds
 Carlsbad 
Municipal 

Water District  Wastewater 

Liabilities:
Current:

Accrued liabilities 1,474,092        811,377           1,778,377        4,063,846            7,489,733        
Accrued interest 36,886             -                       -                       36,886                 -                       
Due to other governments 7,599,425        1,059,381        -                       8,658,806            -                       
Accrued claims and judgments -                       -                       -                       -                           16,909,815      
Loans payable 1,698,146        -                       -                       1,698,146            -                       

Total Current Liabilities 10,808,549      1,870,758        1,778,377        14,457,684          24,399,548      

Noncurrent:
Unearned revenues -                       10,000             210,670           220,670               -                       
Deposits payable 102,157           271,671           727,388           1,101,216            1,968               
Net pension liability 2,870,329        1,265,187        679,907           4,815,423            2,723,131        
Loans payable 10,745,391      -                       -                       10,745,391          -                       

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 13,717,877      1,546,858        1,617,965        16,882,700          2,725,099        

Total Liabilities 24,526,426      3,417,616        3,396,342        31,340,384          27,124,647      

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred inflows of resources - pension related items 2,980,577        1,313,783        706,022           5,000,382            2,827,727        
Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB related items 256,825           82,167             66,491             405,483               217,169           
Deferred inflows of resources - lease related items 3,802,242        -                       1,334,985        5,137,227            -                       

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 7,039,644        1,395,950        2,107,498        10,543,092          3,044,896        

Net Position:
Invested in capital assets 190,525,554    141,259,962    23,701,827      355,487,343        21,255,790      
Restricted for capital projects 34,962,767      3,986,015        -                       38,948,782          -                       
Unrestricted 96,853,919      37,621,169      15,666,250      150,141,338        25,144,841      

Total Net Position 322,342,240    182,867,146    39,368,077      544,577,463        46,400,631      

Reconciliation of Net Position to the Statement of Net Position

Net Position per Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds 544,577,463$      

Prior years' accumulated adjustment to reflect the consolidation of
  internal service funds activities related to the enterprise funds 1,633,391 

Current years' adjustments to reflect the consolidation of internal 
  service activities related to enterprise funds 8,915 

Net Position per Statement of Net Position 546,219,769$      

See Notes to Financial Statement. 37



CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS     
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Governmental
Other Activities-

Enterprise Internal
Funds Totals Service Funds

Operating Revenues:
Sales and service charges 48,678,034$    -$                     -$                     48,678,034$        -$                     
Wastewater service charges -                       16,282,173      -                       16,282,173          -                       
Miscellaneous 1,893,698        90,514             272,404           2,256,616            1,016,078        
Golf course operations -                       -                       10,424,281      10,424,281          -                       
Other charges for services 515,686           -                       3,684,383        4,200,069            29,216,246      

Total Operating Revenues 51,087,418      16,372,687      14,381,068      81,841,173          30,232,324      

Operating Expenses:
Administration and general 17,415,553      9,583,926        5,016,534        32,016,013          13,719,853      
Encina plant operations 1,322,840        3,734,928        -                       5,057,768            -                       
Purchased water 28,108,107      -                       -                       28,108,107          -                       
Claims expense -                       -                       -                       -                           10,988,610      
Depreciation expense 6,489,394        4,584,296        3,401,019        14,474,709          3,412,501        
Golf course operations -                       -                       8,027,121        8,027,121            -                       
Fuel and supplies -                       -                       -                       -                           1,716,709        
Small equipment purchases -                       -                       -                       -                           722,307           

Total Operating Expenses 53,335,894      17,903,150      16,444,674      87,683,718          30,559,980      

Operating Income (Loss) (2,248,476)       (1,530,463)       (2,063,606)       (5,842,545)           (327,656)          

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Taxes 4,715,280        -                       -                       4,715,280            -                       
Intergovernmental 170,432           2,287               10,265             182,984               1,072               
Interest revenue 80,162             -                       27,183             107,345               -                       
Interest expense (256,428)          -                       -                       (256,428)              -                       
Contributions -                       -                       -                       -                           1,040,506        
Income (loss) from property and investments (5,393,462)       (1,798,526)       (579,906)          (7,771,894)           (1,944,758)       
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets -                       -                       -                       -                           307,868           

Total Nonoperating  
   Revenues (Expenses) (684,016)          (1,796,239)       (542,458)          (3,022,713)           (595,312)          

Income (Loss) Before transfers and capital contributions (2,932,492)       (3,326,702)       (2,606,064)       (8,865,258)           (922,968)          

Transfers in 1,048,262        -                       322,000           1,370,262            -                       
Transfers out -                       (46,534)            (7,980)              (54,514)                (100,800)          
Capital contibutions

Capital restricted fees and grants 237,254           221,836           -                       459,090               -                       
Developer constructed assets 262,206           145,684           -                       407,890               -                       

Changes in Net Position (1,384,770)       (3,005,716)       (2,292,044)       (6,682,530)           (1,023,768)       

Net Position:

Beginning of Year 323,727,010    185,872,862    41,660,121      551,259,993        47,424,399      

End of Fiscal Year 322,342,240$  182,867,146$  39,368,077$    544,577,463$      46,400,631$    

Reconciliation of Changes in Net Position to the Statement of Activities:

Changes in Net Position, per the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds (6,682,530)$         

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of current fiscal year
internal service funds activities related to enterprise funds (8,915)                  

Changes in Net Position of Business-Type Activities per Statement of Activities (6,691,445)$         

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds
 Carlsbad 
Municipal 

Water District  Wastewater 

See Notes to Financial Statement. 38



CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS     
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Governmental
Other Activities-

Enterprise Internal
Funds Totals Service Funds

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash received from customers and users 48,710,496$    17,756,279$      14,142,996$      80,609,771$      -$                     
Cash received from/(paid to) interfund service provided -                       -                         -                         -                         29,208,546      
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (36,346,795)     (14,769,890)       (8,244,715)         (59,361,400)       (2,643,809)       
Cash paid to employees for services (12,283,385)     (2,511,154)         (5,009,676)         (19,804,215)       (14,613,111)     
Claims and premiums paid -                       -                         -                         -                         (8,224,816)       
Cash received from (payments to) others 1,893,698        90,514               272,404             2,256,616          1,016,078        

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 1,974,014        565,749             1,161,009          3,700,772          4,742,888        

Cash Flows from Non-Capital
Financing Activities:

Cash transfers in 1,048,262        -                         322,000             1,370,262          (100,800)          
Cash transfers out -                       (46,534)              (7,980)                (54,514)              -                       
Repayment received from other funds 1,048,262        -                         -                         1,048,262          -                       
Repayment made to other funds -                       (46,534)              (7,980)                (54,514)              -                       
Contributions 170,432           -                         -                         170,432             -                       

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
    Non-Capital Financing Activities 2,266,956        (93,068)              306,040             2,479,928          (100,800)          

Cash Flows from Capital 
and Related Financing Activities:

Proceeds from capital debt 352,459 -                         -                         352,459             -                       
Capital contributions 262,206           367,520             -                         629,726             1,061,329        
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (4,542,892)       (2,594,621)         (38,118)              (7,175,631)         (5,032,311)       
Principal paid on capital debt (1,658,821)       -                         -                         (1,658,821)         -                       
Interest paid on capital debt (263,818)          -                         -                         (263,818)            -                       
Capital grants 1,783,823        -                         10,265               1,794,088          1,072               
Property taxes received 4,707,134        -                         -                         4,707,134          -                       
Proceeds from sales of capital assets -                       -                         -                         -                         307,868           
Lease items (69,032)            -                         (21,508)              (90,540)              -                       

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
   Capital and Related Financing Activities 571,059           (2,227,101)         (49,361)              (1,705,403)         (3,662,042)       

Investment earnings (5,357,851)       (1,799,891)         (558,765)            (7,716,507)         (1,974,277)       

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
Investing Activities (5,357,851)       (1,799,891)         (558,765)            (7,716,507)         (1,974,277)       

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
and Cash Equivalents (545,822)          (3,554,311)         858,923             (3,241,210)         (994,231)          

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 134,471,029    45,350,047        16,564,930        196,386,006      51,905,734      

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 133,925,207$  41,795,736$      17,423,853$      193,144,796$    50,911,503$    
Income (Loss) Before transfers and capital contributions

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating income (loss) (2,248,476)$     (1,530,463)$       (2,063,606)$       (5,842,545)$       (327,656)$        
Capital contibutions

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
  net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 6,489,394        4,584,296          3,401,019          14,474,709        3,412,501        
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (482,691)          (744,148)            (148,011)            (1,374,850)         (7,700)              
(Increase) decrease in inventories (89,481)            (2,848)                (35,407)              (127,736)            74,810             
(Increase) decrease in due from other governments -                       2,302,760          -                         2,302,760          -                       
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expense (12,763)            171                    (20,961)              (33,553)              (276,247)          
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities (8,136,444)       (2,410,448)         (161,226)            (10,708,118)       109,223           
Increase (decrease) in due to other governments 7,511,993        (1,085,495)         -                         6,426,498          -                       
Increase (decrease) in deposits payable (533)                 (84,506)              246,382             161,343             -                       
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue -                       -                         182,343             182,343             
Increase (decrease) in OPEB liability 167,050           231,804             72,389               471,243             383,419           
Increase (decrease) in pension liability (1,224,035)       (695,374)            (311,913)            (2,231,322)         (1,389,256)       
Increase (decrease) in claims and judgments -                       -                         -                         -                         2,763,794        

Total Adjustments 4,222,490        2,096,212          3,224,615          9,543,317          5,070,544        
Net Cash Provided (Used) by 
   Operating Activities 1,974,014$      565,749$           1,161,009$        3,700,772$        4,742,888$      

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

 Carlsbad 
Municipal 

Water District  Wastewater 

See Notes to Financial Statement. 39



CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2022

Custodial
Funds

Assets:
Current assets:
Pooled cash and investments 9,286,471$      1,180,420$      
Receivables:

Assessments 27,806             -                      
Accrued interest 54,510             4,501               

Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable -                      4,504,261        

Restricted assets:
Cash and investments 4,683,715        -                      

Total Assets 14,052,502      5,689,182        

Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities 31,988             -                  
Accrued interest -                      34,450             
Long-term liabilities:

Due in one year -                      950,000           
Due in more than one year -                      1,000,000        

Total Liabilities 31,988             1,984,450        

Net Position:
Restricted for:

Individuals, organizations and other governments 14,020,514      -                  
Redevelopment obligation retirement purposes - 3,704,732        

Total Net Position 14,020,514$    3,704,732$      

 Private 
Purpose Trust 

Fund 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 40



CITY OF CARLSBAD

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Custodial
Funds

Additions:
Taxes 1,373,266$      848,207$         
Interest on housing loans -                      112,502           
Income (loss) from property and investments (346,443)          (57,857)            
Assessment district collections 10,374,305      -                      

Total Additions 11,401,128      902,852           

Deductions:
Distributions to beneficiaries 3,151,352        -                      
Administrative expenses 163,951           7,284               
Bond interest expense and fees 1,662,438        113,515           
Principal expense 3,610,000        -                      

Total Deductions 8,587,741        120,799           

Changes in Net Position 2,813,387        782,053           

Net Position - Beginning of the Year 11,207,127      2,922,679        

Net Position - End of the Year 14,020,514$    3,704,732$      

 Private 
Purpose Trust 

Fund 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 41
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Former Carlsbad Municipal Water District (CMWD) employees

City of Carlsbad employees
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California Public Employer’s Retiree Benefit Trust Program
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON STATEMENT
GENERAL FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 159,820,616$     159,820,616$   159,820,616$   -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Taxes 151,814,000       151,814,000     178,762,522     26,948,522    
Licenses and permits 1,465,000           1,465,000         3,233,321         1,768,321      
Intergovernmental 7,928,763           8,154,091         7,868,957         (285,134)       
Charges for services 6,210,000           6,466,374         9,828,529         3,362,155      
Use of money and property 4,894,125           4,894,925         (5,570,530)        (10,465,455)  
Fines and forfeitures 406,000              406,000            342,948            (63,052)         
Contributions 46,000               46,000              26,226              (19,774)         
Miscellaneous 834,025              966,332            1,187,314         220,982        
Transfers in 10,000               10,000              10,000              -                    

Amounts Available for Appropriation 333,428,529       334,043,338     355,534,970     21,491,632    
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
General government 23,968,509         27,200,469       21,995,629       5,204,840      
Less: interdepartmental charges (5,206,349)         (5,216,349)        (5,314,617)        98,268          
Public safety 81,396,279         86,935,883       81,961,117       4,974,766      
Community services 50,023,648         55,234,846       44,972,128       10,262,718    
Public works 21,163,968         25,051,317       20,131,996       4,919,321      
Capital outlay 882,285              3,091,620         2,719,612         372,008        
Transfers out 7,148,000           26,927,804       26,927,804       -                    

Total Charges to Appropriations 179,376,340       219,225,590     193,396,359     25,829,231    

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 154,052,189$     114,817,748$   162,138,611$   47,320,863$  
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

AGENT MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER MISCELLANEOUS PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY/(ASSET) AND RELATED RATIOS
AS OF JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (1)

Fiscal year 2022 2021 2020 2019
Measurement period ended June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Total Pension Liability
Service cost 8,267,207$      7,748,623$      7,393,365$      7,642,062$      
Interest on total pension liability 29,773,920      28,392,127      27,175,110      25,874,546      
Differences between expected and actual experience 3,459,759       1,167,225       2,338,341       (3,023,977)      
Changes in assumptions -                      -                      -                      (2,662,243)      
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (21,477,657)    (19,590,424)    (18,193,803)    (16,887,970)    
Net change in total pension liability 20,023,229      17,717,551      18,713,013      10,942,418      
Total pension liability - beginning 419,563,912    401,846,361    383,133,348    372,190,930    
Total pension liability - ending (a) 439,587,141    419,563,912    401,846,361    383,133,348    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer 16,551,765      10,637,969      17,745,975      22,114,923      
Contributions - employee 3,436,290       3,338,003       3,040,423       3,005,761       
Net investment income 74,476,234      15,901,834      19,551,424      22,720,698      
Benefit payments (21,477,657)    (19,590,424)    (18,193,803)    (16,887,970)    
Administration Expense (331,533)         (454,014)         (213,503)         (1,218,072)      
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 72,655,099      9,833,368       21,930,516      29,735,340      
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 331,885,303    322,051,935    300,121,419    270,386,079    
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 404,540,402    331,885,303    322,051,935    300,121,419    

Net pension liability/(asset) - ending (a)-(b) = (c) 35,046,739$    87,678,609$    79,794,426$    83,011,929$    

92.03% 79.10% 80.14% 78.33%

Covered Payroll (d) 43,884,424$    42,138,677$    39,130,545$    36,214,870$    

Net pension liability/(asset) as a percentage of Covered Payroll (c/d) 79.86% 208.07% 203.92% 229.22%

Notes to Schedule:
Benefit Changes: 

Change of Assumptions: 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 
liability/(asset) (b/a)

The figures above do not include any liability impact that may have resulted from plan changes which occurred after the June 30, 2020 valuation
date. This applies for voluntary benefit changes, as well as any offers of Two Years Additional Service Credit (a.k.a. Golden Handshakes).

None in 2019-2021. In 2018, demographic assumptions and inflation rate were changed in accordance to the CalPERS Experience Study and
Review of Actuarial Assumptions December 2017. There were no changes in the discount rate. In 2017, the discount rate was reduced from
7.65 percent to 7.15 percent. In 2016, there were no changes. In 2015, amounts reported reflect an adjustment of the discount rate from 7.5
percent (net of administrative expense) to 7.65 percent (without a reduction for pension plan administrative expense.) In 2014, amounts reported
were based on the 7.5 percent discount rate.

(1) Historical information is required only for measurement for which GASB 68 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2015 was the first year of implementation,
therefore, only eight years are shown.
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2018 2017 2016 2015
June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

7,836,970$      6,836,445$      6,674,982$      6,908,307$      
25,085,808      24,192,948      23,142,961      21,793,340      
(3,079,012)      (2,605,228)      1,300,520       -                      
20,988,178      -                      (5,737,798)      -                      

(15,327,609)    (14,344,528)    (12,791,734)    (11,614,664)    
35,504,335      14,079,637      12,588,931      17,086,983      

336,686,595    322,606,958    310,018,027    292,931,044    
372,190,930    336,686,595    322,606,958    310,018,027    

14,677,334      9,562,926       8,434,882       8,004,157       
2,820,046       2,833,466       2,703,715       3,039,951       

26,893,994      1,330,196       5,362,753       35,526,156      
(15,327,609)    (14,344,528)    (12,791,734)    (11,614,664)    

(359,620)         (147,759)         (572,277)         -                      
28,704,145      (765,699)         3,137,339       34,955,600      

241,681,934    242,447,633    239,310,294    204,354,694    
270,386,079    241,681,934    242,447,633    239,310,294    

101,804,851$  95,004,661$    80,159,325$    70,707,733$    

72.65% 71.78% 75.15% 77.19%

35,845,774$    35,141,036$    33,609,704$    32,960,515$    

284.01% 270.35% 238.50% 214.52%
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

AGENT MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER MISCELLANEOUS PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
AS OF FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (1)

2022 2021 2020 2019

MISCELLANEOUS:
Actuarially Determined Contribution 11,286,334$   11,098,619$  10,633,467$   11,966,625$  
Contribution in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contributions (14,518,210)    (16,501,759)   (10,633,467)    (17,745,975)   
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) (3,231,876)$    (5,403,140)$   -$                   (5,779,350)$   

Covered Payroll 44,068,269$   43,884,424$  42,138,677$   39,130,545$  

Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 32.94% 37.60% 25.23% 45.35%

Note to Schedule:

Valuation Date: June 30, 2019

Methods and  assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Single and Agent Employers Entry age normal
Amortization method/Period For details, see June 30, 2019 Funding Valuation Report

Assets valuation method
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases
Payroll Growth 2.75%
Investment rate of return

Retirement age

Mortality

The probabilities of mortality are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study for
the period from 1997 to 2015. Pre-retirement and Post-retirement mortality rates
include 15 years of projected mortality improvement using 90% of Scale MP-2016
published by the Society of Actuaries.

(1) Historical information is required only for measurement for which GASB 68 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2015 was the first year of implementation,
therefore, only nine years are shown.

Varies by entry age and service

Market value of assets. For details, see June 30, 2019 Funding Valuation Report

7.00% Net of Pension Plan Investment and Administrative Expenses; includes
Inflation.
The probabilities of Retirement are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study
for the period from 1997 to 2015.
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

10,456,115$    10,338,549$  9,562,926$    8,434,882$    8,004,157$    
(22,114,923)     (14,677,334)   (9,562,926)     (8,434,882)     (8,004,157)     
(11,658,808)$   (4,338,785)$   -$                  -$                  -$                  

36,214,870$    35,845,774$  35,141,036$  33,609,704$  32,960,515$  

61.07% 40.95% 27.21% 25.10% 24.28%
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

AGENT MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER SAFETY PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY/(ASSET) AND RELATED RATIOS
AS OF JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (1)

Fiscal year 2022 2021 2020 2019
Measurement period ended June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Total Pension Liability
Service cost 7,535,523$      6,578,451$      6,317,755$      5,985,155$      
Interest on total pension liability 23,741,151      22,410,699      21,269,278      20,248,091      
Differences between expected and actual experience 5,936,553       4,071,899       2,425,561       2,726,755       
Changes in assumptions -                      -                      -                      (1,332,336)      
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (17,230,615)    (16,362,437)    (15,288,250)    (13,797,333)    
Net change in total pension liability 19,982,612      16,698,612      14,724,344      13,830,332      
Total pension liability - beginning 330,955,050    314,256,438    299,532,094    285,701,762    
Total pension liability - ending (a) 350,937,662    330,955,050    314,256,438    299,532,094    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer 14,253,531      10,321,371      23,119,896      8,675,370       
Contributions - employee 2,861,027       2,581,027       2,380,740       2,169,504       
Net investment income 56,569,028      12,053,297      14,331,677      17,250,148      
Benefit payments (17,230,615)    (16,362,437)    (15,288,250)    (13,797,333)    
Administration Expense (251,893)         (343,854)         (156,148)         (935,892)         
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 56,201,078      8,249,404       24,387,915      13,361,797      
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 252,160,197    243,910,793    219,522,878    206,161,081    
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 308,361,275    252,160,197    243,910,793    219,522,878    

Net pension liability/(asset) - ending (a)-(b) = (c) 42,576,387$    78,794,853$    70,345,645$    80,009,216$    

87.87% 76.19% 77.62% 73.29%

Covered Payroll (d) 26,392,461$    24,695,745$    22,328,023$    20,768,094$    

Net pension liability/(asset) as a percentage of Covered Payroll (c/d) 161.32% 319.06% 315.06% 385.25%

Notes to Schedule:
Benefit Changes:

Change of Assumptions: 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 
liability/(asset) (b/a)

The figures above do not include any liability impact that may have resulted from plan changes which occurred after the June 30, 2020 valuation
date. This applies for voluntary benefit changes, as well as any offers of Two Years Additional Service Credit (a.k.a. Golden Handshakes).

None in 2019-2021. In 2018, demographic assumptions and inflation rate were changed in accordance to the CalPERS Experience Study and
Review of Actuarial Assumptions December 2017. There were no changes in the discount rate. In 2017, the discount rate was reduced from
7.65 percent to 7.15 percent. In 2016, there were no changes. In 2015, amounts reported reflect an adjustment of the discount rate from 7.5
percent (net of administrative expense) to 7.65 percent (without a reduction for pension plan administrative expense.) In 2014, amounts reported
were based on the 7.5 percent discount rate.

(1) Historical information is required only for measurement for which GASB 68 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2015 was the first year of implementation,
therefore, only eight years are shown.
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2018 2017 2016 2015
June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

5,825,080$      5,209,900$      5,048,529$      5,425,425$      
19,305,098      18,557,781      17,775,039      16,876,220      

(705,417)         (941,378)         638,786          -                      
16,661,943      -                      (4,517,683)      -                      

(13,034,483)    (12,197,119)    (11,264,768)    (10,529,479)    
28,052,221      10,629,184      7,679,903       11,772,166      

257,649,541    247,020,357    239,340,454    227,568,288    
285,701,762    257,649,541    247,020,357    239,340,454    

12,379,181      6,836,098       6,491,856       6,141,746       
1,922,500       1,933,363       1,726,785       1,853,365       

20,385,351      990,545          4,107,305       27,905,516      
(13,034,483)    (12,197,119)    (11,264,768)    (10,529,479)    

(270,020)         (114,168)         (210,908)         -                      
21,382,529      (2,551,281)      850,270          25,371,148      

184,778,552    187,329,833    186,479,563    161,108,415    
206,161,081    184,778,552    187,329,833    186,479,563    

79,540,681$    72,870,989$    59,690,524$    52,860,891$    

72.16% 71.72% 75.84% 77.91%

18,965,085$    18,514,525$    18,378,393$    18,013,144$    

419.41% 393.59% 324.79% 293.46%
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

AGENT MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER SAFETY PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
AS OF FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (1)

2022 2021 2020 2019

SAFETY:
Actuarially Determined Contribution 10,144,367$   9,656,334$    10,323,721$   8,899,136$     
Contribution in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contributions (13,344,367)    (14,253,194)   (10,323,721)    (23,119,790)    
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) (3,200,000)$    (4,596,860)$   -$                   (14,220,654)$  

Covered Payroll 25,604,904$   26,392,461$  24,695,745$   22,328,023$   

Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 52.12% 54.00% 41.80% 103.55%

Note to Schedule:

Valuation Date: June 30, 2019

Methods and  assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Single and Agent Employers Entry age normal
Amortization method/Period For details, see June 30, 2019 Funding Valuation Report
Assets valuation method Market value of assets. For details, see June 30, 2019 Funding Valuation Report
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases
Payroll Growth 2.75%
Investment rate of return

Retirement age

Mortality

Varies by entry age and service

7.00% Net of Pension Plan Investment and Administrative Expenses; includes
Inflation.
The probabilities of Retirement are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study
for the period from 1997 to 2015.

The probabilities of mortality are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study for
the period from 1997 to 2015. Pre-retirement and Post-retirement mortality rates
include 15 years of projected mortality improvement using 90% of Scale MP-2016
published by the Society of Actuaries.

(1) Historical information is required only for measurement for which GASB 68 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2015 was the first year of implementation,
therefore, only nine years are shown.
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

8,658,116$    7,695,135$    6,836,098$    6,491,856$    6,141,746$    
(8,658,116)     (12,379,181)   (6,836,098)     (6,491,856)     (6,141,746)     

-$                  (4,684,046)$   -$                  -$                  -$                  

20,768,094$  18,965,085$  18,514,525$  18,378,393$  18,013,144$  

41.69% 65.27% 36.92% 35.32% 34.10%
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
AS OF JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (1)

Fiscal year 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Measurement period ended June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 669,651$      657,941$      536,124$      520,509$      505,348$      
Interest on the total OPEB liability 1,347,382     1,301,716     1,167,930     1,113,646     1,064,137     
Actual and expected experience difference (922,167)       -                    (203,116)       -                    -                    
Changes in assumptions 625,021        (281,685)       1,232,232     -                    -                    
Benefit payments (1,074,741)    (999,866)       (887,656)       (860,894)       (893,899)       
Net change in total OPEB liability 645,146        678,106        1,845,514     773,261        675,586        
Total OPEB liability - beginning (2) 19,116,041   18,437,935   16,592,421   15,819,160   15,143,574   
Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 19,761,187   19,116,041   18,437,935   16,592,421   15,819,160   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contribution - employer 1,180,559     1,085,866     978,302        860,894        747,772        
Net investment income 4,387,820     541,912        887,132        1,064,150     1,281,487     
Benefit payments (1,074,741)    (999,866)       (887,656)       (860,894)       (893,899)       
Other (11,858)         (7,493)           (3,078)           (24,735)         -                    
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 4,481,780     620,419        974,700        1,039,415     1,135,360     
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 15,962,072   15,341,653   14,366,953   13,327,538   12,192,178   
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 20,443,852   15,962,072   15,341,653   14,366,953   13,327,538   

Total OPEB Liability/(Assets) - ending (a) - (b) (682,665)$     3,153,969$   3,096,282$   2,225,468$   2,491,622$   

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 103.45% 83.50% 83.21% 86.59% 84.25%

Covered-employee payroll 70,276,885$ 66,834,422$ 61,458,568$ 56,982,964$ 54,810,859$ 

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll -0.97% 4.72% 5.04% 3.91% 4.55%

Changes in assumptions:  The discount rate is 6.25% as of June 30, 2022

CITY OF CARLSBAD

(1) Historical information is required only for the measurement periods for which GASB 75 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2018 was the first year of
implementation.  Future years' information will be displayed up to 10 years as information becomes available.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
AS OF JUNE 30, FOR THE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (1)

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
768,612$      962,244$      941,129$      788,383$      770,693$      

(1,102,669)    (1,180,557)    (1,085,864)    (978,302)       (860,894)       
(334,057)$     (218,313)$     (144,735)$     (189,919)$     (90,201)$       

90,161,596$ 70,276,885$ 66,834,422$ 61,458,568$ 56,982,964$ 

1.22% 1.68% 1.62% 1.59% 1.51%

Notes to Schedule:

Methods and assumptions used to determine contributions:

Actuarial Cost Method
Amortization Valuation Method/Period
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases
Payroll Growth 2.75%
Investment Rate of Return
Retirement Age
Mortality The probabilities of mortality are based on the CalPERS Experience Study for the period from 2000-2019.
Mortality Improvement Post-retirement mortality projected fully generational with Scale MP-2021.

Varies by Entry Age and Service base on the CalPERS Experience Study for the period from 2000-2019.

7.0% net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses, including inflation

Actuarially Determined Contribution
Contribution in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contributions
Contribution Deficiency (Excess)

Covered-employee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll

(1) Historical information is required only for the measurement periods for which GASB 75 is applicable. Fiscal Year 2018 was the first year of
implementation.  Future years' information will be displayed up to 10 years as information becomes available.

*Actuarial methods and assumptions used to set the actuarially determined contribution for Fiscal Year 2022 were from the June 30, 2021 actuarial 

Entry Age, Level Percent of Pay
Level dollar over 25-year fixed period

The probabilities of retirement are based on the CalPERS Experience Study for the period from 2000-2019.
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS           
JUNE 30, 2022

Assets:
Pooled cash and investments 17,277,677$      556,638$          2,912,160$        9,725,510$        1,182,088$        
Receivables:

Accounts, net of allowances -                        -                        -                        22,996              -                        
Notes and loans 23,483,104        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Accrued interest 3,626,143         33,219              11,079              33,926              4,508                
Leases -                        3,098,072         -                        -                        -                        
Other -                        -                        -                        88,471              -                        

Prepaid costs -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Due from other governments -                        100,008            -                        -                        -                        
Advances to other funds -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Inventories -                        -                        3,460                -                        -                        
Land held for resale 324,223            1,309,593         -                        -                        -                        

         Total Assets 44,711,147$      5,097,530$        2,926,699$        9,870,903$        1,186,596$        

Liabilities, Deferred inflows of Resources, 
and Fund Balances:
Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities 1,863$              89,139$            33,273$            235,454$          -$                      
Unearned revenues -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Deposits payable -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Due to other governments -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Due to other funds -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Advances from other funds -                        -                        -                        -                        1,203,163         

         Total Liabilities 1,863                89,139              33,273              235,454            1,203,163         

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenues 3,560,256         -                        -                        -                        -                        
Lease related items -                        3,097,757         -                        -                        -                        

     Total Deferred inflows of Resources 3,560,256         3,097,757         -                        -                        -                        

Fund Balances:
  Nonspendable:
    Inventory -                        -                        3,460                -                        -                        
    Prepaid costs -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
  Restricted for:
    Affordable, low and moderate income housing 41,149,028        -                        -                        -                        -                        
    Community services -                        1,910,634         2,889,966         -                        -                        
    Lighting and landscaping districts -                        -                        -                        9,635,449         -                        
    General government -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
    Public safety -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
    Capital projects -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
  Assigned to:
    Capital Projects -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
  Unassigned -                        -                        -                        -                        (16,567)             

         Total Fund Balances 41,149,028        1,910,634         2,893,426         9,635,449         (16,567)             

     Total Liabilities, deferred inflows of 
     resources, and Fund Balances 44,711,147$      5,097,530$        2,926,699$        9,870,903$        1,186,596$        

 Affordable 
Housing 

 Community 
Development 
Block Grant  Donations 

 Financing 
Districts 

 Habitat and 
Agricultural 
Management 

Special Revenue Funds

98



CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2022

Assets:
Pooled cash and investments
Receivables:

Accounts, net of allowances
Notes and loans
Accrued interest
Leases
Other

Prepaid costs
Due from other governments
Advances to other funds
Inventories
Land held for resale

         Total Assets

Liabilities, Deferred inflows of Resources, 
and Fund Balances:
Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenues
Deposits payable
Due to other governments
Due to other funds
Advances from other funds

         Total Liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenues
Lease related items

     Total Deferred inflows of Resources

Fund Balances:
  Nonspendable:
    Inventory
    Prepaid costs
  Restricted for:
    Affordable, low and moderate income housing
    Community services
    Lighting and landscaping districts
    General government
    Public safety
    Capital projects
  Assigned to:
    Capital Projects
  Unassigned

         Total Fund Balances

     Total Liabilities, deferred inflows of 
     resources, and Fund Balances

          

 Capital 
Projects Funds 

757,735$          601,669$          184,663$          122,371$          3,361,087$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

2,890                2,396                522                   -                        9,074                
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

75,665              -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        1,069                -                        
-                        48,161              92,118              -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

836,290$          652,226$          277,303$          123,440$          3,370,161$        

30,029$            3,735$              35,135$            20,289$            -$                      
-                        1,948                -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        40,877              34,926              426,179            
-                        -                        4,377                -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

30,029              5,683                80,389              55,215              426,179            

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        1,069                -                        

-                        -                        196,914            67,156              -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

806,261            -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        646,543            -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        2,943,982         

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

806,261            646,543            196,914            68,225              2,943,982         

836,290$          652,226$          277,303$          123,440$          3,370,161$        

Special Revenue Funds

 Other Special 
Revenue Funds 

 Police Grants 
and Asset 
Forfeiture 

 Section 8 
Rental 

Assistance 
 Tyler Court 
Apartments 

 Assessment 
and Other 
Districts 
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2022

Assets:
Pooled cash and investments
Receivables:

Accounts, net of allowances
Notes and loans
Accrued interest
Leases
Other

Prepaid costs
Due from other governments
Advances to other funds
Inventories
Land held for resale

         Total Assets

Liabilities, Deferred inflows of Resources, 
and Fund Balances:
Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenues
Deposits payable
Due to other governments
Due to other funds
Advances from other funds

         Total Liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenues
Lease related items

     Total Deferred inflows of Resources

Fund Balances:
  Nonspendable:
    Inventory
    Prepaid costs
  Restricted for:
    Affordable, low and moderate income housing
    Community services
    Lighting and landscaping districts
    General government
    Public safety
    Capital projects
  Assigned to:
    Capital Projects
  Unassigned

         Total Fund Balances

     Total Liabilities, deferred inflows of 
     resources, and Fund Balances

          

18,705,062$      45,369,822$      1,729,131$        14,030,098$    4,562,374$        

-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        

71,334              -                        6,717                53,503             17,398              
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        

620,526            -                        35,319              -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        

19,396,922$      45,369,822$      1,771,167$        14,083,601$    4,579,772$        

190,991$          2,837,697$        -$                      -$                     -$                      
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        5,650,000        -                        

190,991            2,837,697         -                        5,650,000        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        

19,205,931        -                        1,771,167         8,433,601        4,579,772         

-                        42,532,125        -                        -                       -                        
-                        -                        -                        -                       -                        

19,205,931        42,532,125        1,771,167         8,433,601        4,579,772         

19,396,922$      45,369,822$      1,771,167$        14,083,601$    4,579,772$        

 Gas Tax 
 General Capital 

Construction 

 Grants and 
Other Capital 
Project Funds 

 Park 
Development 

 Planned Local 
Drainage 
Facilities 

Capital Projects Funds
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2022

Assets:
Pooled cash and investments
Receivables:

Accounts, net of allowances
Notes and loans
Accrued interest
Leases
Other

Prepaid costs
Due from other governments
Advances to other funds
Inventories
Land held for resale

         Total Assets

Liabilities, Deferred inflows of Resources, 
and Fund Balances:
Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenues
Deposits payable
Due to other governments
Due to other funds
Advances from other funds

         Total Liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenues
Lease related items

     Total Deferred inflows of Resources

Fund Balances:
  Nonspendable:
    Inventory
    Prepaid costs
  Restricted for:
    Affordable, low and moderate income housing
    Community services
    Lighting and landscaping districts
    General government
    Public safety
    Capital projects
  Assigned to:
    Capital Projects
  Unassigned

         Total Fund Balances

     Total Liabilities, deferred inflows of 
     resources, and Fund Balances

        

27,966,622$      9,118,256$        20,254,375$      8,711,127$        187,128,465$    

-                        -                        -                        -                        22,996              
-                        -                        -                        -                        23,483,104        

106,649            34,765              77,239              33,219              4,124,581         
-                        -                        -                        -                        3,098,072         
-                        87,728              -                        -                        251,864            
-                        -                        -                        156,166            157,235            
-                        76,864              -                        -                        972,996            

5,650,000         -                        -                        -                        5,650,000         
-                        -                        -                        -                        3,460                
-                        -                        -                        -                        1,633,816         

33,723,271$      9,317,613$        20,331,614$      8,900,512$        226,526,589$    

246,037$          265,824$          209,441$          92,352$            4,291,259$        
-                        -                        -                        -                        1,948                
-                        -                        -                        -                        501,982            
-                        -                        -                        -                        4,377                
-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
-                        -                        1,397,070         -                        8,250,233         

246,037            265,824            1,606,511         92,352              13,049,799        

-                        45,294              -                        -                        3,605,550         
-                        -                        -                        -                        3,097,757         

-                        45,294              -                        -                        6,703,307         

-                        -                        -                        -                        3,460                
-                        -                        -                        156,166            157,235            

-                        -                        -                        -                        41,413,098        
-                        -                        -                        -                        4,800,600         
-                        -                        -                        -                        9,635,449         
-                        -                        -                        -                        806,261            
-                        -                        -                        -                        646,543            

33,477,234        9,006,495         18,725,103        -                        98,143,285        

-                        -                        -                        8,651,994         51,184,119        
-                        -                        -                        -                        (16,567)             

33,477,234        9,006,495         18,725,103        8,808,160         206,773,483      

33,723,271$      9,317,613$        20,331,614$      8,900,512$        226,526,589$    

 Total 
Government 

Funds 

 Public 
Facilities 

Construction 
 Sales 

Tax/TransNet 
 Traffic Impact 

Projects 

 Technology 
Investment 

Capital 

Capital Projects Funds
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS           
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

 
Revenues:
Taxes -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
Intergovernmental 460                 1,036,043        -                      -                      -                      
Contribution from property owners 342,149          -                      -                      -                      274,652          
Charges for services 911,558          -                      12,781            2,523,577        -                      
Use of money and property (491,217)         176,252          (124,807)         (380,467)         (48,487)           
Fines and forfeitures -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Contributions -                      -                      354,157          -                      -                      
Miscellaneous -                      -                      11,137            21,690            -                      

               Total Revenues 762,950          1,212,295        253,268          2,164,800        226,165          

Expenditures:
Current:
   General government -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
   Public safety -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
   Community services 187,513          1,429,464        235,464          1,884,225        -                      
   Public works -                      -                      -                      1,260,694        -                      
Capital outlay -                      -                      16,922            -                      -                      
Debt service:
   Interest and fiscal charges -                      -                      -                      -                      14,535            

               Total Expenditures 187,513          1,429,464        252,386          3,144,919        14,535            

               Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
                Over (Under) Expenditures 575,437          (217,169)         882                 (980,119)         211,630          

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers in 200,912          -                      -                      1,390,000        -                      
Transfers out (50,000)           -                      -                      -                      -                      
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                      199,679          -                      -                      -                      

               Total Other Financing Sources
                 (Uses) 150,912          199,679          -                      1,390,000        -                      

               Net Change in Fund Balances 726,349          (17,490)           882                 409,881          211,630          

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 40,422,679      1,928,124        2,892,544        9,225,568        (228,197)         

Fund Balances, End of Year 41,149,028$    1,910,634$      2,893,426$      9,635,449$      (16,567)$         

 Affordable 
Housing 

 Community 
Development 
Block Grant  Donations 

 Financing 
Districts 

 Habitat and 
Agricultural 
Management 

Special Revenue Funds
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

 
Revenues:
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Contribution from property owners
Charges for services
Use of money and property
Fines and forfeitures
Contributions
Miscellaneous

               Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
   General government
   Public safety
   Community services
   Public works
Capital outlay
Debt service:
   Interest and fiscal charges

               Total Expenditures

               Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
                Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Proceeds from sale of capital asset

               Total Other Financing Sources
                 (Uses)

               Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year

Fund Balances, End of Year

          

 Capital 
Projects 
Funds 

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
-                      455,280          9,968,003        -                      -                      

301,514          -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      649,402          -                      

(32,839)           (27,169)           (3,720)             3,264              (100,711)         
-                      2,672              -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      28,336            -                      -                      

268,675          430,783          9,992,619        652,666          (100,711)         

378,918          -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      263,971          -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      10,081,418      701,017          -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

24,925            8,770              -                      13,111            2,587              

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

403,843          272,741          10,081,418      714,128          2,587              

(135,168)         158,042          (88,799)           (61,462)           (103,298)         

-                      -                      50,000            -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      (200,912)         -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      50,000            (200,912)         -                      

(135,168)         158,042          (38,799)           (262,374)         (103,298)         

941,429          488,501          235,713          330,599          3,047,280        

806,261$         646,543$         196,914$         68,225$          2,943,982$      

 Assessment 
and Other 
Districts 

 Police Grants 
and Asset 
Forfeiture 

 Section 8 
Rental 

Assistance 
 Tyler Court 
Apartments 

 Other Special 
Revenue 

Funds 

Special Revenue Funds
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

 
Revenues:
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Contribution from property owners
Charges for services
Use of money and property
Fines and forfeitures
Contributions
Miscellaneous

               Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
   General government
   Public safety
   Community services
   Public works
Capital outlay
Debt service:
   Interest and fiscal charges

               Total Expenditures

               Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
                Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Proceeds from sale of capital asset

               Total Other Financing Sources
                 (Uses)

               Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year

Fund Balances, End of Year

          

5,073,071$      -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
-                      -                      35,319            -                      -                      
-                      -                      44,960            536,232          180,839          
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

(796,766)         -                      (76,692)           (598,855)         (195,262)         
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      13,387            -                      -                      -                      

4,276,305        13,387            3,587              (62,623)           (14,423)           

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

600,000          -                      49,674            -                      490                 
2,303,425        12,606,427      26,669            1,196              93,670            

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

2,903,425        12,606,427      76,343            1,196              94,160            

1,372,880        (12,593,040)    (72,756)           (63,819)           (108,583)         

-                      13,283,056      -                      -                      -                      
(10,000)           -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

(10,000)           13,283,056      -                      -                      -                      

1,362,880        690,016          (72,756)           (63,819)           (108,583)         

17,843,051      41,842,109      1,843,923        8,497,420        4,688,355        

19,205,931$    42,532,125$    1,771,167$      8,433,601$      4,579,772$      

 Planned Local 
Drainage 
Facilities  Gas Tax 

 General 
Capital 

Construction 

 Grants and 
Other Capital 
Project Funds 

 Park 
Development 

Capital Projects Funds
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

 
Revenues:
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Contribution from property owners
Charges for services
Use of money and property
Fines and forfeitures
Contributions
Miscellaneous

               Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
   General government
   Public safety
   Community services
   Public works
Capital outlay
Debt service:
   Interest and fiscal charges

               Total Expenditures

               Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
                Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Proceeds from sale of capital asset

               Total Other Financing Sources
                 (Uses)

               Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year

Fund Balances, End of Year

        

Total

Governmental
Funds

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    5,073,071$         
-                      1,569,178        -                      -                      13,064,283         

581,057          -                      478,299          -                      2,739,702           
-                      1,033,670        -                      -                      5,130,988           

(1,128,213)      (387,501)         (873,000)         (317,172)         (5,403,362)          
-                      -                      -                      -                      2,672                  
-                      -                      -                      -                      354,157              
-                      -                      -                      -                      74,550                

(547,156)         2,215,347        (394,701)         (317,172)         21,036,061         

-                      -                      -                      -                      378,918              
-                      -                      -                      -                      263,971              
-                      -                      -                      -                      14,519,101         

9,268              -                      4,368              -                      1,924,494           
2,635,240        1,922,954        2,806,082        1,530,668        23,992,646         

-                      -                      -                      -                      14,535                

2,644,508        1,922,954        2,810,450        1,530,668        41,093,665         

(3,191,664)      292,393          (3,205,151)      (1,847,840)      (20,057,604)        

-                      -                      -                      10,656,000      25,579,968         
-                      -                      -                      -                      (260,912)             
-                      -                      -                      -                      199,679              

-                      -                      -                      10,656,000      25,518,735         

(3,191,664)      292,393          (3,205,151)      8,808,160        5,461,131           

36,668,898      8,714,102        21,930,254      -                      201,312,352       

33,477,234$    9,006,495$      18,725,103$    8,808,160$      206,773,483$      

 Public 
Facilities 

Construction 
 Sales 

Tax/TransNet 
 Traffic Impact 

Projects 

 Technology 
Investment 

Capital 

Capital Projects Funds
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AFFORDABLE HOUSING
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 40,422,679$   40,422,679$ 40,422,679$    -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Intergovernmental -                     -                   460                 460               
Contribution from property owners 140,000          140,000        342,149          202,149        
Charges for services 30,000            30,000          911,558          881,558        
Use of money and property 345,000          345,000        (491,217)         (836,217)       
Transfers in -                     200,912        200,912          -                    

Amounts Available for Appropriation 40,937,679     41,138,591   41,386,541      247,950        
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
Community services 761,197          765,592        187,513          578,079        
Transfers out 50,000            50,000          50,000            -                    

Total Charges to Appropriations 811,197          815,592        237,513          578,079        

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 40,126,482$   40,322,999$ 41,149,028$    826,029$       
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 1,928,124$ 1,928,124$   1,928,124$  -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Intergovernmental 520,000      1,337,368     1,036,043    (301,325)       
Use of money and property 500             500               176,252       175,752        
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                  -                   199,679       199,679        

Amounts Available for Appropriation 2,448,624   3,265,992     3,340,098    74,106          
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
Community services 638,299      2,542,936     1,429,464    1,113,472      

Total Charges to Appropriations 638,299      2,542,936     1,429,464    1,113,472      

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 1,810,325$ 723,056$      1,910,634$  1,187,578$    
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
DONATIONS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 2,892,544$ 2,892,544$   2,892,544$  -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Charges for services -                  -                   12,781         12,781          
Use of money and property 30,523        30,523          (124,807)     (155,330)       
Contributions 254,000      254,000        354,157       100,157        
Miscellaneous 8,000          8,000            11,137         3,137            

Amounts Available for Appropriation 3,185,067   3,185,067     3,145,812    (39,255)         
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
Community services 684,211      717,362        235,464       481,898        
Capital outlay -                  -                   16,922         (16,922)         

Total Charges to Appropriations 684,211      717,362        252,386       464,976        

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 2,500,856$ 2,467,705$   2,893,426$  425,721$       
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FINANCING DISTRICTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 9,225,568$ 9,225,568$   9,225,568$  -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Charges for services 2,464,351   2,464,351     2,523,577    59,226          
Use of money and property 109,000      109,000        (380,467)     (489,467)       
Miscellaneous -                  7,524            21,690         14,166          
Transfers in 1,190,000   1,390,000     1,390,000    -                    

Amounts Available for Appropriation 12,988,919 13,196,443   12,780,368  (416,075)       
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
Community services 2,312,970   2,610,695     1,884,225    726,470        
Public works 1,542,492   1,671,528     1,260,694    410,834        

Total Charges to Appropriations 3,855,462   4,282,223     3,144,919    1,137,304      

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 9,133,457$ 8,914,220$   9,635,449$  721,229$       
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
HABITAT AND AGRICULTURAL MANAGEMENT
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 (228,197)$   (228,197)$     (228,197)$   -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Contribution from property owners 15,000        15,000          274,652       259,652        
Use of money and property 15,000        15,000          (48,487)       (63,487)         
Miscellaneous -                  -                   -                  -                    

Amounts Available for Appropriation (198,197)     (198,197)       (2,032)         196,165        
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
Public works -                  66,818          -                  66,818          
Debt service:
      Interest and fiscal charges -                  14,535          14,535         -                    

Total Charges to Appropriations -                  81,353          14,535         66,818          

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 (198,197)$   (279,550)$     (16,567)$     262,983$       
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
OTHER SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 941,429$    941,429$      941,429$     -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Contribution from property owners 285,000      285,000        301,514       16,514          
Use of money and property 10,000        10,000          (32,839)       (42,839)         

Amounts Available for Appropriation 1,236,429   1,236,429     1,210,104    (26,325)         
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
General government 345,000      473,445        378,918       94,527          
Capital outlay -                  -                   24,925         (24,925)         

Total Charges to Appropriations 345,000      473,445        403,843       69,602          

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 891,429$    762,984$      806,261$     43,277$        

111



CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
POLICE GRANTS AND ASSET FORFEITURE
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 488,501$    488,501$      488,501$     -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Intergovernmental 185,000      387,667        455,280       67,613          
Use of money and property 4,000          4,000            (27,169)       (31,169)         
Fines and forfeitures 14,000        14,000          2,672          (11,328)         

Amounts Available for Appropriation 691,501      894,168        919,284       25,116          
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
General government 95,000        95,000          -                  95,000          
Public safety 341,106      617,847        263,971       353,876        
Capital outlay -                  96,623          8,770          87,853          

Total Charges to Appropriations 436,106      809,470        272,741       536,729        

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 255,395$    84,698$        646,543$     561,845$       
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
SECTION 8 RENTAL ASSISTANCE
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 235,713$    235,713$      235,713$     -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Intergovernmental 7,490,000   9,965,876     9,968,003    2,127            
Use of money and property -                  -                   (3,720)         (3,720)           
Miscellaneous 8,000          28,311          28,336         25                 
Transfers in 50,000        50,000          50,000         -                    

Amounts Available for Appropriation 7,783,713   10,279,900   10,278,332  (1,568)           
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
Community services 7,898,443   10,103,203   10,081,418  21,785          

Total Charges to Appropriations 7,898,443   10,103,203   10,081,418  21,785          

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 (114,730)$   176,697$      196,914$     20,217$        
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
TYLER COURT APARTMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Variance with
 Final Budget

Budget Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Budgetary Fund Balance, July 1 330,599$    330,599$      330,599$     -$                  
Resources (Inflows):
Charges for services 641,891      641,891        649,402       7,511            
Use of money and property 2,509          2,509            3,264          755               

Amounts Available for Appropriation 974,999      974,999        983,265       8,266            
Charges to Appropriation (Outflow):
Community services 521,190      621,773        701,017       (79,244)         
Capital outlay 119,797      119,797        13,111         106,686        
Transfers out -                  200,912        200,912       -                    

Total Charges to Appropriations 640,987      942,482        915,040       27,442          

Budgetary Fund Balance, June 30 334,012$    32,517$        68,225$       35,708$        
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS     
JUNE 30, 2022

Totals
Assets:
Current:

Cash and investments 5,173,626$      12,250,227$    17,423,853$       
Receivables:

Accounts 15,132            992,703          1,007,835           
Accrued interest 14,228            46,716            60,944                
Lease 55,813            -                      55,813                
Other 11,343            647,354          658,697              

Prepaid costs 83,501            -                      83,501                
Inventories 176,119          -                      176,119              

Total Current Assets 5,529,762        13,937,000      19,466,762         

Noncurrent:
Net OPEB asset -                      3,790              3,790                  
Lease receivable 1,300,680        -                      1,300,680           

Capital Assets
Land 4,786,745        -                      4,786,745           
Construction in progress 6,631              -                      6,631                  
Buildings and other structures 20,170,451      -                      20,170,451         
Improvements other than buildings 44,060,852      -                      44,060,852         
Machinery and equipment 1,936,607        -                      1,936,607           
Less accumulated depreciation (47,259,459)    -                      (47,259,459)        

Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 23,701,827      -                      23,701,827         

Total Noncurrent Assets 25,002,507      3,790              25,006,297         

Total Assets 30,532,269      13,940,790      44,473,059         

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred outflows of resources - pension related items -                      338,388          338,388              
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB related items -                      60,470            60,470                

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources -                  398,858          398,858              

Liabilities:
Current:

Accrued liabilities 570,334          1,208,043        1,778,377           

Total Current Liabilities 570,334          1,208,043        1,778,377           

Noncurrent:
Uneared revenues -                      210,670          210,670              
Deposits payable 727,388          -                      727,388              
Net pension liability -                      679,907          679,907              

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 727,388          890,577          1,617,965           

Total Liabilities 1,297,722        2,098,620        3,396,342           

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred inflows of resources - pension related items -                      706,022          706,022              
Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB related items -                      66,491            66,491                
Deferred inflows of resources - lease related items 1,334,985        -                      1,334,985           

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,334,985        772,513          2,107,498           

Net Position:
Invested in capital assets 23,701,827      -                      23,701,827         
Unrestricted 4,197,735        11,468,515      15,666,250         

Total Net Position 27,899,562$    11,468,515$    39,368,077$       

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

 Golf Course  Solid Waste 
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS     
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Totals
Operating Revenues:
Golf course operations 10,424,281$    -$                    10,424,281$    
Other charges for services -                      3,684,383        3,684,383        
Miscellaneous 25,896            246,508          272,404          

Total Operating Revenues 10,450,177      3,930,891        14,381,068      

Operating Expenses:
Administration and general 280,090          4,736,444        5,016,534        
Depreciation expense 3,401,019        -                      3,401,019        
Golf course operations 8,027,121        -                      8,027,121        

Total Operating Expenses 11,708,230      4,736,444        16,444,674      

Operating Income (Loss) (1,258,053)      (805,553)         (2,063,606)      

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Intergovernmental -                      10,265            10,265            
Interest revenue 27,183            -                      27,183            
Income (loss) from property and investments (55,008)           (524,898)         (579,906)         

Total Nonoperating  
   Revenues (Expenses) (27,825)           (514,633)         (542,458)         

Income (Loss) Before Transfers (1,285,878)      (1,320,186)      (2,606,064)      

Transfers in -                      322,000          322,000          
Transfers out -                      (7,980)             (7,980)             

Changes in Net Position (1,285,878)      (1,006,166)      (2,292,044)      

Net Position:

Beginning of Year 29,185,440      12,474,681      41,660,121      

End of Fiscal Year 27,899,562$    11,468,515$    39,368,077$    

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

 Golf Course  Solid Waste 
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS     
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Totals
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash received from customers and users 10,411,356$    3,731,640$      14,142,996$   
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (7,940,205)      (304,510)         (8,244,715)      
Cash paid to employees for services (19,901)           (4,989,775)      (5,009,676)      
Cash received from (payments to) others 25,896            246,508          272,404          

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 2,477,146        (1,316,137)      1,161,009       

Cash Flows from Non-Capital
Financing Activities:

Cash transfers out -                      (7,980)             (7,980)             
Cash transfers in -                      322,000          322,000          
Repayment made to other funds -                      (7,980)             (7,980)             

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
    Non-Capital Financing Activities -                      306,040          306,040          

Cash Flows from Capital 
and Related Financing Activities:

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (38,118)           -                      (38,118)           
Capital Grants -                      10,265            10,265            
Lease items (21,508)           -                      (21,508)           

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
   Capital and Related Financing Activities (59,626)           10,265            (49,361)           

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest received (35,157)           (523,608)         (558,765)         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
Investing Activities (35,157)           (523,608)         (558,765)         

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
and Cash Equivalents 2,382,363        (1,523,440)      858,923          

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 2,791,263        13,773,667      16,564,930     

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 5,173,626$      12,250,227$    17,423,853$   

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating income (loss) (1,258,053)$    (805,553)$       (2,063,606)$    
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
  net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 3,401,019        -                      3,401,019       
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (12,925)           (135,086)         (148,011)         
(Increase) decrease in inventories (35,407)           -                      (35,407)           
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expense (20,961)           -                      (20,961)           
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities 143,284          (304,510)         (161,226)         
Increase (decrease) in deposits payable 246,382          -                      246,382          
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue -                      182,343          182,343          
Increase (decrease) in OPEB liability 72,389            72,389            
Increase (decrease) in pension liability 13,807            (325,720)         (311,913)         

Total Adjustments 3,735,199        (510,584)         3,224,615       
Net Cash Provided (Used) by 
   Operating Activities 2,477,146$      (1,316,137)$    1,161,009$     

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

 Golf Course  Solid Waste 
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2022

Totals
Assets:
Current:

Cash and investments 19,010,881$    5,870,411$      8,038,530$      4,711,454$      13,280,227$    50,911,503$    
Receivables:

Accounts, net of allowances 12,806             -                      -                      -                      -                      12,806             
Accrued interest 72,497             -                      30,657             17,967             50,643             171,764           

Prepaid costs -                      -                      2,403,243        -                      -                      2,403,243        
Inventories 257,258           -                      -                      -                      -                      257,258           

Total Current Assets 19,353,442      5,870,411        10,472,430      4,729,421        13,330,870      53,756,574      

Noncurrent:
Net OPEB assets 14,403             -                      35,509             2,490              777                 53,179             
Captial Assets

Construction in progress -                      -                      150,696           -                      -                      150,696           
Machinery and equipment 31,776,392      -                      5,427,322        -                      -                      37,203,714      
Intangible assets -                      -                      3,155,837        -                      -                      3,155,837        
Less accumulated depreciation (15,559,905)     -                      (3,694,552)      -                      -                      (19,254,457)     

Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 16,216,487      -                      5,039,303        -                      -                      21,255,790      

Total Noncurrent Assets 16,230,890      -                      5,074,812        2,490              777                 21,308,969      

Total Assets 35,584,332      5,870,411        15,547,242      4,731,911        13,331,647      75,065,543      

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred outflows of resources - pension related items 256,408           -                      983,768           71,515             43,607             1,355,298        
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB related items 33,905             -                      106,050           6,566              2,812              149,333           

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 290,313           -                      1,089,818        78,081             46,419             1,504,631        

Liabilities:
Current:

Accrued liabilities 231,140           5,870,411        1,122,510        258,932           6,740              7,489,733        
Accrued claims and judgments -                      -                      -                      4,669,826        12,239,989      16,909,815      

Total Current Liabilities 231,140           5,870,411        1,122,510        4,928,758        12,246,729      24,399,548      

Noncurrent:
Deposits payable 968                 -                      -                      1,000              -                      1,968              
Net pension liability 515,186           -                      1,976,636        143,692           87,617             2,723,131        

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 516,154           -                      1,976,636        144,692           87,617             2,725,099        

Total Liabilities 747,294           5,870,411        3,099,146        5,073,450        12,334,346      27,124,647      

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred inflows of resources - pension related items 534,975           -                      2,052,559        149,211           90,982             2,827,727        
Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB related items 51,346             -                      152,233           9,683              3,907              217,169           

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 586,321           -                      2,204,792        158,894           94,889             3,044,896        

Net Position:
Invested in capital assets 16,216,487      -                      5,039,303        -                      -                      21,255,790      
Unrestricted 18,324,543      -                      6,293,819        (422,352)         948,831           25,144,841      

Total Net Position 34,541,030$    -$                    11,333,122$    (422,352)$       948,831$         46,400,631$    

Governmental Activities - Internal Service Funds

 Fleet 
Management 

 Self Insured 
Benefits 

 Information 
Technology 

 Risk 
Management 

 Workers' 
Compensation 
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Totals
Operating Revenues:
Other charges for services 6,627,195$      -$                 14,759,399$    3,305,532$      4,524,120$      29,216,246$    
Miscellaneous 67,848             -                       49,700             49,453             849,077           1,016,078        

Total Operating Revenues 6,695,043        -                       14,809,099      3,354,985        5,373,197        30,232,324      

Operating Expenses:
Administration and general 1,697,001        -                       11,511,484      425,605           85,763             13,719,853      
Claims and premiums expense -                       -                       -                       4,094,126        6,894,484        10,988,610      
Depreciation expense 2,380,856        -                       1,031,645        -                       -                       3,412,501        
Fuel and supplies 1,716,709        -                       -                       -                       -                       1,716,709        
Small equipment purchases 1,366               -                       720,941           -                       -                       722,307           

Total Operating Expenses 5,795,932        -                       13,264,070      4,519,731        6,980,247        30,559,980      

Operating Income (Loss) 899,111           -                       1,545,029        (1,164,746)       (1,607,050)       (327,656)          

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Intergovernmental -                       -                       1,072               -                       -                       1,072               
Contributions 1,061,329        -                       (20,823)            -                       -                       1,040,506        
Income (loss) from property and investments (815,785)          -                       (355,274)          (206,583)          (567,116)          (1,944,758)       
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 307,868           -                       -                       -                       -                       307,868           

Total Nonoperating  
   Revenues (Expenses) 553,412           -                       (375,025)          (206,583)          (567,116)          (595,312)          

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 1,452,523        -                       1,170,004        (1,371,329)       (2,174,166)       (922,968)          

Transfers in -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Transfers out (100,800)          -                       -                       -                       -                       (100,800)          

Changes in Net Position 1,351,723        -                       1,170,004        (1,371,329)       (2,174,166)       (1,023,768)       

Net Position:

Beginning of Year 33,189,307      -                       10,163,118      948,977           3,122,997        47,424,399      

End of Fiscal Year 34,541,030$    -$                     11,333,122$    (422,352)$        948,831$         46,400,631$    

Governmental Activities - Internal Service Funds

 Fleet 
Management 

 Self Insured 
Benefits 

 Information 
Technology 

 Risk 
Management 

 Workers' 
Compensation 
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Totals
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash received from/(paid to) interfund service provided 6,619,495$      -$                    14,759,399$    3,305,532$      4,524,120$      29,208,546$    
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (1,756,405)      -                      (1,001,649)      120,469           (6,224)             (2,643,809)      
Cash paid to employees for services (1,889,294)      254,596           (12,382,533)     (478,342)         (117,538)         (14,613,111)     
Claims and premiums paid -                      -                      -                      (3,045,668)      (5,179,148)      (8,224,816)      
Cash received from (payments to) others 67,848             -                      49,700             49,453             849,077           1,016,078        

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 3,041,644        254,596           1,424,917        (48,556)           70,287             4,742,888        

Cash Flows from Non-Capital
Financing Activities:

Cash transfers out (100,800)         -                      -                      -                      -                      (100,800)         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
    Non-Capital Financing Activities (100,800)         -                      -                      -                      -                      (100,800)         

Cash Flows from Capital 
and Related Financing Activities:

Contributions 1,061,329        -                      -                      -                      -                      1,061,329        
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (4,588,999)      -                      (443,312)         -                      -                      (5,032,311)      
Capital grants -                      -                      1,072              -                      -                      1,072              
Proceeds from sales of capital assets 307,868           -                      -                      -                      -                      307,868           

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
   Capital and Related Financing Activities (3,219,802)      -                      (442,240)         -                      -                      (3,662,042)      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest received (815,785)         -                      (380,836)         (207,228)         (570,428)         (1,974,277)      

Net Cash Provided (Used) by
Investing Activities (815,785)         -                      (380,836)         (207,228)         (570,428)         (1,974,277)      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
and Cash Equivalents (1,094,743)      254,596           601,841           (255,784)         (500,141)         (994,231)         

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 20,105,624      5,615,815        7,436,689        4,967,238        13,780,368      51,905,734      

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 19,010,881$    5,870,411$      8,038,530$      4,711,454$      13,280,227$    50,911,503$    

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating income (loss) 899,111$         -$                    1,545,029$      (1,164,746)$     (1,607,050)$     (327,656)$       

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
  net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 2,380,856        -                      1,031,645        -                      -                      3,412,501        
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (7,700)             -                      -                      -                      -                      (7,700)             
(Increase) decrease in inventories 74,810             -                      -                      -                      -                      74,810             
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expense 4,461              -                      (280,708)         -                      -                      (276,247)         
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities (117,601)         254,596           (142,017)         120,469           (6,224)             109,223           
Increase (decrease) in OPEB liability 112,745           242,397           17,789             10,488             383,419           
Increase (decrease) in pension liability (305,038)         (971,429)         (70,526)           (42,263)           (1,389,256)      
Increase (decrease) in claims and judgments -                      -                      -                      1,048,458        1,715,336        2,763,794        

Total Adjustments 2,142,533        254,596           (120,112)         1,116,190        1,677,337        5,070,544        

Net Cash Provided (Used) by 
   Operating Activities 3,041,644$      254,596$         1,424,917$      (48,556)$         70,287$           4,742,888$      

Governmental Activities - Internal Service Funds

 Fleet 
Management 

 Self Insured 
Benefits 

 Information 
Technology 

 Risk 
Management 

 Workers' 
Compensation 
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
CUSTODIAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2022

Totals
Assets:
Cash and investments 3,837,975$      5,448,496$      9,286,471$      
Receivables:

Assessments 20,428             7,378               27,806             
Accrued interest 33,732             20,778             54,510             

Restricted assets:
Cash and investments 4,683,715        -                      4,683,715        

Total Assets 8,575,850        5,476,652        14,052,502      

Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities 26,746             5,242               31,988             

Total Liabilities 26,746             5,242               31,988             

Net Position:
Restricted for:

Individuals, organizations and other governments 8,549,104        5,471,410        14,020,514      

Total Net Position 8,549,104$      5,471,410$      14,020,514 $     

Assessment 
Districts

Business 
Improvement 

Districts
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CITY OF CARLSBAD

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
CUSTODIAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Additions:
Taxes 1,373,266$      -$                    1,373,266$      
Income (loss) from property and investments (122,452)          (223,991)          (346,443)          
Assessment district collections 3,511,314        6,862,991        10,374,305      

Total Additions 4,762,128        6,639,000        11,401,128      

Deductions:
Distributions to beneficiaries -                      3,151,352        3,151,352        
Administrative expenses -                      163,951           163,951           
Bond interest expense and fees 1,662,438        -                      1,662,438        
Principal expense 3,610,000        -                      3,610,000        

Total Deductions 5,272,438        3,315,303        8,587,741        

Changes in Net Position (510,310)          3,323,697        2,813,387        

Net Position - Beginning of the Year 9,059,414        2,147,713        11,207,127      

Net Position - End of the Year 8,549,104$      5,471,410$      14,020,514$    

Business 
Improvement 

Districts Totals
Assessment 

Districts
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Statistical Section 
 
This section of the City of Carlsbad’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents detailed information as a context 
for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary 
information says about the city’s overall financial health. 
 

Table of Contents Page 
 
Financial Trends 124 
 These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the city’s financial 

performance and well-being have changed over time. 
 
Revenue Capacity 134 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the city’s water and wastewater revenue 
sources as well as the city’s most significant local revenue source, property taxes. 

 
Debt Capacity 143 

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the city’s current levels 
of outstanding debt, and the city’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

 
Demographic and Economic Information 152 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the city’s financial activities take place. 

 
Operating Information 156 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the city’s financial report relates to the services the city provides and the activities it 
performs. 

 
 
 
 

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Reports for the relevant year. 



Net Position by Component
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Governmental activities

Net investment in capital assets 782,500$        784,210$        783,298$        788,035$        
Restricted for:
  Capital projects 182,685          175,468          178,228          176,279          
  Lighting and landscaping districts 2,958               4,703               5,263               5,921               
  Affordable housing 37,390             39,317             39,544             40,390             
  Habitat and agricultural mitigation management 2,665               1,713               1,708               1,758               
  Other purposes 3,685               3,774               3,059               2,948               
Unrestricted 319,317          328,602          223,522          245,078          

Total governmental activities net position 1,331,200$     1,337,787$     1,234,622$     1 1,260,409$     

Business-type activities

Net investment in capital assets 307,000$        305,681$        307,122$        317,927$        
Restricted for:
  Capital projects 45,990             46,632             47,315             45,950             
Unrestricted 55,758             66,083             69,922             73,285             

Total business-type activities net position 408,748$        418,396$        424,359$        1 437,162$        

Total government

Net investment in capital assets 1,089,500$     1,089,891$     1,090,420$     1,105,962$     
Restricted for:
  Capital projects 228,675          222,100          225,543          222,229          
  Lighting and landscaping districts 2,958               4,703               5,263               5,921               
  Affordable housing 37,390             39,317             39,544             40,390             
  Habitat and agricultural mitigation management 2,665               1,713               1,708               1,758               
  Other purposes 3,685               3,774               3,059               2,948               
Unrestricted 375,075          394,685          293,444          318,363          

Total net position 1,739,948$     1,756,183$     1,658,981$     1,697,571$     

Source:  City of Carlsbad Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports

1 Net position for the prior year was restated in FY 2014-15, to reflect the application of GASB 68, Accounting & Financial Reporting
for Pensions.

2 Habitat and agricultural mitigation management was combined with other purposes in FY 2019-20 due to immateriality.
3 In FY 2020-21 a transfer of $47 million was made from the General Fund to the Golf Course Fund. The recorded advance from the

General Fund to the Golf Course Fund was removed as it was determined that repayment of the advance is not projected in the
near or foreseeable future.
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2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

788,078$        793,090$        786,965$        791,124$        789,335$        808,515$        

183,245          182,811          194,434          206,067          212,636          191,967          
6,527               7,307               8,025               8,967               9,225               9,635               

40,528             41,500             43,588             44,885             40,988             41,413             
1,805               1,640               1,524               -                   2 -                   -                   
2,818               2,800               4,329               5,444               6,251               6,254               

249,816          262,023          289,000          286,386          249,699          3 263,633          
1,272,817$     1,291,171$     1,327,865$     1,342,873$     1,308,134$     1,321,417$     

344,836$        349,548$        346,628$        351,153$        361,477$        355,487$        

40,098             39,522             38,540             41,244             41,462             38,949             
85,153             88,576             97,509             94,140             149,954          3 151,766          

470,087$        477,646$        482,677$        486,537$        552,893$        546,202$        

1,132,914$     1,142,638$     1,133,593$     1,142,277$     1,150,812$     1,164,002$     

223,343          222,333          232,974          247,311          254,098          230,916          
6,527               7,307               8,025               8,967               9,225               9,635               

40,528             41,500             43,588             44,885             40,988             41,413             
1,805               1,640               1,524               -                   2 -                   -                   
2,818               2,800               4,329               5,444               6,251               6,254               

334,969          350,599          386,509          380,526          399,653          415,399          
1,742,904$     1,768,817$     1,810,542$     1,829,410$     1,861,027$     1,867,619$     
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Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Expenses
Governmental activities

General government 23,574$                 20,187$                 16,108$                 16,147$                 
Public safety 48,468                   48,942                   48,856                   50,463                   
Community services 47,900                   45,341                   48,630                   51,191                   
Public works 36,806                   30,314                   36,273                   37,464                   
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 4                             1                             -                         1                             

Total governmental activities 156,752                 144,785                 149,867                 155,266                 

Business-type activities
Carlsbad Municipal Water District 41,626                   43,547                   40,897                   39,458                   
Golf course 10,668                   11,032                   10,538                   10,545                   
Wastewater 13,556                   12,488                   12,629                   12,613                   
Solid waste 2,918                     2,856                     2,973                     2,997                     

Total business-type activities 68,768                   69,923                   67,037                   65,613                   
Total government 225,520$               214,708$               216,904$               220,879$               

Program Revenues
Governmental activities

Charges for services:
    General government 1,469$                   289$                      1,382$                   296$                      
    Public safety 4,025                     3,950                     4,220                     3,980                     
    Community services 6,987                     8,732                     10,534                   10,711                   
    Public works 5,073                     3,720                     4,014                     4,152                     
Operating grants and contributions 13,199                   11,919                   12,242                   11,912                   
Capital grants and contributions 17,741                   16,129                   19,105                   12,042                   2

Total governmental activities 48,494                   44,739                   51,497                   43,093                   

Business-type activities
Charges for services:
    Carlsbad Municipal Water District 44,240                   46,750                   47,461                   39,854                   3

    Golf course 6,278                     6,635                     6,709                     6,988                     
    Wastewater 12,402                   12,896                   12,875                   12,963                   
    Solid waste 3,060                     3,320                     3,245                     3,206                     
Operating grants and contributions 38                           90                           59                           5,646                     
Capital grants and contributions 2,855                     3,198                     5,879                     2,011                     

Total business-type activities 68,873                   72,889                   76,228                   70,668                   
Total government 117,367$               117,628$               127,725$               113,761$               

Net (Expense)/Revenue:
Governmental activities (108,258)$             (100,046)$             (98,370)$               (112,173)$             
Business-type activities 105                         2,966                     9,191                     5,055                     
Total government net expense (108,153)$             (97,080)$               (89,179)$               (107,118)$             
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2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

18,374$                 25,192$                 5 22,234$                 24,267$                 20,003$                 14,806$                 
55,994                   62,630                   5 67,968                   75,249                   80,295                   81,130                   
54,212                   51,897                   57,978                   60,771                   57,654                   58,954                   
34,317                   36,875                   36,897                   41,419                   35,481                   39,204                   

3                             2                             4                             2                             -                         14                           
162,900                 176,596                 185,081                 201,708                 193,433                 194,108                 

45,219                   51,658                   51,638                   51,198                   56,319                   53,598                   
10,211                   10,560                   11,035                   10,252                   10,280                   11,708                   
12,626                   13,495                   15,238                   16,931                   9,063                     17,905                   

3,272                     3,089                     3,840                     4,382                     5,086                     4,738                     
71,328                   78,802                   81,751                   82,763                   80,748                   87,949                   

234,228$               255,398$               266,832$               284,471$               274,181$               282,057$               

327$                      816$                      1,679$                   1,030$                   1,260$                   627$                      
4,647                     4,805                     4,784                     4,711                     5,020                     5,899                     

12,154                   11,588                   10,755                   9,324                     8,080                     8,671                     
3,952                     3,768                     4,574                     4,142                     5,662                     4,247                     

12,630                   13,054                   17,307                   18,437                   26,459                   20,382                   
22,789                   22,993                   13,842                   16,802                   9,565                     9,922                     
56,499                   57,024                   52,941                   54,446                   56,046                   49,748                   

44,817                   50,095                   46,431                   46,332                   49,668                   49,194                   
7,119                     7,973                     7,979                     6,637                     8,108                     10,424                   

13,467                   13,885                   14,099                   13,849                   14,027                   16,282                   
3,302                     3,427                     3,440                     3,563                     3,387                     3,684                     
2,471                     1,611                     1,260                     399                         3,484                     183                         

13,322                   5,484                     4,864                     6,327                     7,601                     858                         
84,498                   82,475                   78,073                   77,107                   86,275                   80,625                   

140,997$               139,499$               131,014$               131,553$               142,321$               130,373$               

(106,401)$             (119,572)$             (132,140)$             (147,262)$             (137,387)$             (144,360)$             
13,170                   3,673                     (3,678)                    (5,656)                    5,527                     (7,324)                    

(93,231)$               (115,899)$             (135,818)$             (152,918)$             (131,860)$             (151,684)$             

(continued)
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Changes in Net Position (continued)
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities
 Taxes:

    Property taxes 52,861$                 52,608$                 55,992$                 58,945$                 
    Sales and use taxes 28,403                   30,520                   32,146                   34,843                   
    Transient occupancy taxes 14,702                   17,472                   19,713                   20,943                   
    Franchise taxes 5,118                     4,907                     5,427                     5,632                     
    Business license taxes 3,834                     4,177                     4,548                     4,895                     
    Real property transfer taxes 1,058                     1,080                     1,406                     1,546                     
Vehicle license fees 55                           -                         - -                         
Income from property and investments 1,792                     6,917                     4,564                     11,910                   4

Other general revenues 426                         429                         609                         486                         
Extraordinary gain/(loss) -                         (10,289)                  1 -                         -                         
Special items-Golf Course debt -                         -                         -                         -                         
Transfers (656)                       (1,188)                    (1,264)                    (1,240)                    

Total governmental activities 107,593                 106,633                 123,141                 137,960                 

Business type activities
Property taxes 2,904                     2,897                     3,133                     3,306                     
Income from property and investments 555                         2,498                     1,870                     3,163                     
Other general revenues 85                           99                           623                         39                           
Transfers 655                         1,188                     1,264                     1,240                     
Special items-Golf Course debt -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total business-type activities 4,199                     6,682                     6,890                     7,748                     
Total government 111,792$               113,315$               130,031$               145,708$               

Change in Net Position
Governmental activities (665)$                     6,587$                   24,771$                 25,787$                 
Business-type activities 4,304                     9,648                     16,081                   12,803                   
Total government 3,639$                   16,235$                 40,852$                 38,590$                 

Source:  City of Carlsbad Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports

1

2

3 The decrease in FY 2015-16 was a result of a decrease in water sales during the fiscal year from drought conservation measures.
4

5

6

7

8 Decrease in investment income for FY 2021-22 is due to the required fair value adjustment at fiscal year end (per GASB 31).

Fund to the Golf Course Fund was removed as it was determined that repayment of the advance is not projected in the near or foreseeable
future.

The increase in FY 2015-16 is a result of higher cash balances that generate interest, an increase in investment earnings, and interest received 

The increase in FY 2017-18 is mainly due to changes in the city's pension discount rate.
The decrease is FY 2020-21 in income from property and investments was caused by unrealized losses created by adjusting the city's 

In FY 2020-21 a transfer of $47 million was made from the General Fund to the Golf Course Fund. The recorded advance from the General  

Successor Housing Agency per California state mandate.

Poinsettia Fire, as well as the receipt of retroactive mandated cost reimbursements.

from the California Department of Finance earned on unpaid mandated costs.

investments to fair market value at June 30, 2021 and a decrease in the average yield on the treasurer's portfolio for the year.

The extraordinary loss in FY 2013-14 resulted from the restatement of accrued interest on prior year advances made by the city to the

The decrease in FY 2015-16 was a result of one-time funds received from the federal government in the previous fiscal year for the 2014 
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2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

63,988$                 66,524$                 69,952$                 73,885$                 78,239$                 81,012$                 
33,999                   33,674                   38,510                   36,491                   42,579                   51,175                   
22,267                   24,233                   26,320                   18,898                   15,584                   32,403                   

5,475                     5,812                     6,100                     5,864                     5,774                     6,371                     
4,328                     5,026                     5,322                     5,414                     5,705                     6,619                     
1,393                     1,463                     1,715                     1,247                     1,786                     2,179                     

-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
1,975                     2,551                     20,695                   20,239                   5,036                     6 (22,063)                  8

451                         519                         439                         559                         516                         1,262                     
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
-                         -                         -                         -                         (8,427)                    12 -                         

(15,067)                  (136)                       (219)                       (303)                       (47,273)                  12 (1,316)                    
118,809                 139,666                 168,834                 162,294                 99,519                   157,642                 

3,569                     3,743                     4,002                     4,226                     4,491                     4,715                     
749                         986                         7,784                     4,963                     639                         6 (7,656)                    8

370                         3                             113                         -                         -                         2,258                     
15,067                   136                         219                         303                         47,273                   7 1,316                     

-                         -                         -                         -                         8,427                     7 -                         
19,755                   4,868                     12,118                   9,492                     60,830                   633                         

138,564$               144,534$               180,952$               171,786$               160,349$               158,275$               

12,408$                 20,094$                 36,694$                 15,032$                 (37,868)$               13,282$                 
32,925                   8,541                     8,440                     3,836                     66,357                   (6,691)                    
45,333$                 28,635$                 45,134$                 18,868$                 28,489$                 6,591$                   
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Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
General Fund

Nonspendable 57,719$            56,707$            56,381$            55,324$            53,751$            
Committed 1,000                 1,000                 1,000                 1,000                 1,000                 
Assigned 26,200               27,838               40,865               42,692               38,439               
Unassigned 69,578               75,615               80,274               94,404               78,191               
Total General Fund 154,497$          161,160$          178,520$          193,420$          171,381$          

All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable
    Special revenue funds 435$                  430$                  3$                       4$                       1$                       
    Capital project funds -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          
Restricted
    Special revenue funds 61,938               66,833               66,300               51,013               2 51,677               
    Capital project funds 167,009            1 157,712            1 161,499            176,280            2 183,245            
Assigned
    Capital project funds 121,861            131,627            136,237            131,939            146,994            
Unassigned
    Special revenue funds -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          
    Capital project funds -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total all other governmental funds 351,243$          356,602$          364,039$          359,236$          381,917$          

Source:  City of Carlsbad Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports

1 The large decreases in the restricted fund balance in the capital projects fund is a result of increased expenditures during FY 2012-13
and 2013-14 for the construction of Alga Norte Community Park.

2 Beginning in FY 2015-16, the Gas Tax fund balance was reclassified from a Special Revenue fund to a Capital Project fund.
3 In FY 2019-20, the General Fund advanced money to the Habitat Mitigation Fund, a Special Revenue fund, to be repaid to the General Fund

once funds are available. 
4 In FY 2020-21 a transfer of $47 million was made from the General Fund to the Golf Course Fund. The recorded advance from the General Fund

to the Golf Course Fund was removed as it was determined that repayment of the advance is not projected in the near or foreseeable future.
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2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

51,628$            49,608$            49,008$            3,446$               4 2,211$               
1,000                 1,000                 1,000                 1,000                 1,000                 

43,855               33,367               30,733               56,115               48,982               
82,570               101,701            110,122            99,260               109,946            

179,053$          185,676$          190,863$          159,821$          162,139$          

1$                       1$                       1$                       1$                       3$                       
-                          -                          -                          157                    

53,246               57,465               59,295               56,465               57,302               
182,812            194,434            206,067            212,635            191,967            

151,306            162,139            165,267            166,206            164,349            

-                          -                          (234)                   3 (228)                   (17)                     
-                          -                          -                          -                          (885)                   

387,365$          414,039$          430,396$          435,079$          412,876$          
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Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revenues:

Taxes 109,447$          114,996$          123,411$          2     129,617$          
Intergovernmental 11,513               10,602               10,359               11,290               
Licenses and permits 2,016                 2,184                 2,369                 2,467                 
Charges for services 10,261               11,278               13,181               12,913               
Fines and forfeitures 861                    876                    837                    854                    
Income from property and investments 2,362                 7,604                 6,442                 9,970                 
Contributions from property owners 12,029               9,042                 10,688               8,009                 
Donations 411                    210                    440                    417                    
Miscellaneous 1,969                 1,219                 2,550                 1,503                 

Total revenues 150,869            158,011            170,277            177,040            

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 23,072               21,471               17,903               17,221               
Less:  Interdepartmental charges (3,858)               (3,566)               (3,807)               (3,471)               
Public safety 46,162               47,333               48,915               52,015               
Community services 40,899               41,505               44,501               46,298               
Public works 11,299               15,442               16,350               17,465               
Capital outlay 28,602               18,702               20,050               34,669               

Debt service:
Principal retirement 316                    159                    -                     -                     
Interest and fiscal charges 6                         5                         5                         6                         

Total expenditures 146,498            141,051            143,917            164,203            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 4,371                 16,960               26,360               12,837               

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 8,087                 11,477               14,857               9,970                 
Transfers out (14,792)             (16,415)             (16,420)             (12,710)             
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                     -                     -                     -                     
Proceeds from leases -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) (6,705)               (4,938)               (1,563)               (2,740)               

Net change in fund balances (2,334)$             12,022$            24,797$            10,097$            

Debt service as percentage of noncapital
expenditures1 0.24% 0.13% 0.00% 0.00%

Source:  City of Carlsbad Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports

1 Noncapital expenditures are total expenditures less capital outlay (to the extent capitalized for the Government-wide Statement

2

3

4 Increase in investment income for FY 2018-19 is due to an increase in the average yield on the investment portfolio for the year as well as an

5 Increase in public safety expenditures in FY 2018-19 is due to a voluntary $14.2 million additional payment to CalPERS to reduce the city's

6 Decrease in tax revenue for sales and transient occupancy taxes for FY 2020-21 is due to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and

7 Decrease in investment income for FY 2021-22 is due to the required fair value adjustment done on investments at fiscal year end (per GASB 31).

unfunded pension liability in the safety plan.

resulting stay at home orders on sales and transient occupancy taxes.

of Net Position) and expenditures for capitalized assets included within the functional expenditure categories.
Increase in taxes in FY 2014-15 due to growth in property and TOT taxes.

during FY 2016-17.

increase due to the required fair value adjustment done on investments at fiscal year end (per GASB 31).

Includes a transfer out to the Golf Course Fund in the amount of $14.8 million for the defeasance of the golf course construction bonds

132



2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

134,165$          141,118$          154,673$          147,535$          6     155,462$          184,832$          
11,963               11,608               14,647               15,505               23,653               20,933               

3,034                 2,999                 2,668                 2,739                 2,399                 3,233                 
14,309               14,145               13,221               11,525               11,615               14,959               

740                    679                    581                    760                    429                    346                    
3,845                 4,622                 23,275               4     24,989               7,018                 (20,118)             7     

13,330               12,898               10,301               6,623                 5,850                 3,200                 
349                    332                    1,385                 426                    321                    381                    

1,467                 1,991                 3,316                 2,641                 1,786                 1,262                 
183,202            190,392            224,067            212,743            208,533            209,028            

27,925               26,625               24,033               25,762               22,450               22,433               
(3,345)               (3,160)               (4,581)               (5,052)               (5,146)               (5,315)               
57,329               58,568               77,550               5     70,997               78,731               82,225               
48,930               49,039               52,951               56,931               53,267               59,491               
17,349               17,220               18,380               19,995               19,991               22,056               
17,603               26,885               20,703               22,171               21,390               47,015               

-                     
-                     10                      10                      11                      8                         3                         

5                         7                         5                         12                      17                      15                      
165,796            175,194            189,051            190,827            190,708            227,923            

17,406               15,198               35,016               21,916               17,825               (18,895)             

20,849               11,513               11,881               11,183               9,760                 25,974               
(37,613)             3 (13,590)             (13,600)             (11,486)             (57,073)             (27,189)             

-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     200                    
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     25                      

(16,764)             (2,077)               (1,719)               (303)                   (47,313)             (990)                   

642$                  13,121$            33,297$            21,613$            (29,488)$           (19,885)$           

0.00% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01%
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General Governmental Tax Revenues by Source
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Year
Property 

Tax *
Sales and 
Use Taxes

Transient 
Occupancy 

Taxes
Franchise 

Taxes

Business 
License 
Taxes

Real 
Property 
Transfer 

Taxes Gas Tax
Total Tax 
Revenue

2012-13 52,888$  29,301$       14,702$      5,118$       3,834$      1,058$       2,546$      109,447$     
2013-14 52,607     31,464          17,472        4,907         4,178        1,080         3,288        114,996       
2014-15 55,992     1 33,202          19,713        2 5,427         4,548        1,406         3,123        123,411       
2015-16 58,946     35,232          20,943        5,632         4,895        1,545         2,424        129,617       
2016-17 63,988     1 34,543          22,267        3 5,475         4,328        1,393         2,171        134,165       
2017-18 66,523     34,972          24,234        4 5,812         5,026        5 1,463         3,088        6 141,118       
2018-19 69,952     40,795          7 26,320        6,100         5,322        1,715         4,469        154,673       
2019-20 73,889     37,585          8 18,898        8 5,864         5,414        1,247         4,638        147,535       
2020-21 78,247     43,726          15,584        8 5,774         5,705        1,786         4,640        155,462       
2021-22 81,012     51,175          32,403        6,371         6,619        2,179         5,073        184,832       

Percentage change from FY 2012-13 to FY 2021-22:
53% 75% 120% 24% 73% 106% 99% 69%

1 Reflects improvement in the housing market and new construction. 
2 The increase in TOT in FY 2014-15 is due to the openings of several new hotels and higher occupancy and room rates throughout the city.
3 The increase in TOT in FY 2016-17 is due to higher room rates throughout most of the city's hotels and an increase in available rooms.
4 The increase in TOT in FY 2017-18 is due to higher room rates throughout most of the city's hotels and an opening of a new hotel.
5 The increase in Business License Taxes in FY 2017-18 is due to a significant number of delinquent payments being collected.
6 The increase in Gas Taxes in FY 2017-18 is due to new ongoing allocations received from the state's Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account.
7 The increase in Sales and Use Taxes in FY 2018-19 is due to overall growth and the ending of the state's sales and use tax "triple flip" in FY 2017-18.
8 The decreases in tax revenue for sales tax for FY 2019-20 and transient occupancy taxes for FY 2019-20 and FY 2020-21 is due to the effects of the COVID-19
    pandemic and resulting stay at home orders on sales and transient occupancy taxes.

* Property Tax category also includes Vehicle License Fees (VLF) in lieu, property tax increment and CFD No. 1 special taxes.

  Source: City of Carlsbad Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports
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Water and Wastewater Rates
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Wastewater

Fiscal Year
Monthly Delivery 

Charge
Base Price Per 

Unit1
Monthly Base 

Rate

2012-13 $21.38 $3.20 $25.02
2013-14 20.07 3.19 25.52
2014-15 21.08 3.35 26.03
2015-16 22.19 3.53 27.81
2016-17 24.11 3.84 27.81
2017-18 24.72 3.94 27.81
2018-19 24.72 3.94 27.81
2019-20 25.02 4.04 28.66
2020-21 25.52 4.13 29.52
2021-22 27.81 3.84 35.93

Source: City of Carlsbad

1                                                         

Water

 Note:  Rates shown are for a 5/8" meter, which is the standard household meter size. 

One unit of water equals 748 gallons. The base price shown is for tier 1, which applies to the first 

12 units of usage per month at a single family residence.
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Assessed Value of Taxable Property
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in millions)

Fiscal 
Year

Residential 
Property

Commercial 
Property

Industrial 
Property

Exemptions 
and Other 

Taxable 
Property1 

Net 
Assessed 
Valuation

Change 
From Prior 

Year

Estimated 
Property Tax 

Revenue2
Total Direct 

Tax Rate3

2012-13 17,222$        3,237$            1,884$         614$               22,957$        -0.11% 44$                   0.1927%
2013-14 17,774          3,298             1,871          580                23,523          2.47 45                    0.1927
2014-15 19,450          3,603             1,847          589                25,489          8.36 49                    0.1927
2015-16 20,431          3,973             1,909          612                26,925          5.63 52                    0.1927
2016-17 21,472          4,238             2,092          622                28,424          5.57 55                    0.1927
2017-18 22,707          4,355             2,378          555                29,995          5.53 58                    0.1927
2018-19 24,077          4,528             2,541          490                31,636          5.47 61                    0.1927
2019-20 25,379          4,964             2,673          640                33,656          6.39 65                    0.1927
2020-21 26,507          5,224             2,809          677                35,217          4.64 68                    0.1927
2021-22 27,697          5,325             2,883          457                36,362          3.25 70                    0.1927

1 Other property includes farm, rural, institutional, recreational, state secured property, unsecured property, personal property and fixtures.
2 Estimated property tax revenues do not include special assessments, redevelopment tax increment or community facilities district revenues.
3 The total direct tax rate is the city's proportionate share of Proposition 13 property taxes collected within the tax rate area.

 Source: County of San Diego, California Auditor and Controller's Office 

 Notes:  Information about estimated actual value of property is not available; the assessed value is based on the most recent sales value and includes 
secured property only.  
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Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates 
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(rate per $100 of assessed value)

Fiscal 
Year

City of 
Carlsbad 

Total Direct 
Rate2

Carlsbad 
Unified 
School 
District

San Diego 
County

Educational 
Revenue 

Augmentation 
Fund

Mira Costa 
Community 

College

Tri City 
Hospital 
District

All Other 
Rates

Total Prop 
13 Rate3

Voter 
Approved 

Debt4
Total Tax 

Rate5

2012-13 0.1927% 0.3412% 0.1576% 0.1497% 0.0937% 0.0198% 0.0453% 1.0000% 0.0768% 1.0768%
2013-14 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.0743 1.0743
2014-15 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.0710 1.0710
2015-16 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.0681 1.0681
2016-17 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.0563 1.0563
2017-18 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.0791 1.0791
2018-19 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.0758 1.0758
2019-20 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.1015 1.1015
2020-21 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.0999 1.0999
2021-22 0.1927 0.3412 0.1576 0.1497 0.0937 0.0198 0.0453 1.0000 0.0961 1.0961

1

Area 09000 was chosen as the most representative for the city.
2 The city has no general obligation bonds; therefore the Basic Tax Rate is the same as the Total Direct Tax Rate.
3 In 1978, California voters passed Proposition 13 which limited property taxes to a total maximum rate of 1.00% based on the assessed value of 

each property being taxed.  This 1.00% is shared by all taxing agencies within a tax rate area. 

Each year, the assessed value of property may be increased by an "inflation factor" (limited to a maximum increase of 2%). With few exceptions, 

property is only reassessed at the time that it is sold to a new owner.  At that point, the purchase price of the property becomes the new 

assessed value.
4 The majority of voter approved debt is related to various school district and hospital bonds. 
5 The Total Tax Rate is the 1.00% Proposition 13 rate plus the Voter Approved Debt rate.

Allocation of 1% Ad Valorem Property Taxes

Overlapping Rates for Tax Rate Area 090001

 Source: County of San Diego, California Auditor and Controller's Office 

The tax rate history above is for Tax Rate Area 09000, which has the highest total assessed value of the all the tax rate areas in the city. Tax Rate
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Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates  (continued)
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(rate per $100 of assessed value)

Total Tax 
Rates1

County 
Tax Rate 
Areas2

Carlsbad 
Unified 
Schools

Oceanside 
Unified 
Schools

San Marcos 
Unified 
Schools

Vista 
Unified 
Schools

Encinitas 
Union 

Schools

Mira Costa 
Comm. 
College

Palomar 
Comm. 
College

Palomar 
Health 
District

MWD / 
SDCWA3

Total Voter 
Approved 

Rates4

1.0586% 1 0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0452% 0.0134% 0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0586%
1.0621 35 -             -            -                -             0.0452       0.0134       -             -             0.0035       0.0621          
1.0681 3 -             -            -                -             0.0452       -             0.0194       -             0.0035       0.0681          
1.0716 1 -             -            0.0547         -             -             0.0134       -             -             0.0035       0.0716          
1.0776 24 -             -            0.0547         -             -             -             0.0194       -             0.0035       0.0776          
1.0926 3 0.0792       -            -                -             -             0.0134       -             -             -              0.0926          
1.0961 54 0.0792       -            -                -             -             0.0134       -             -             0.0035       0.0961          
1.0972 5 -             -            -                0.0743       -             -             0.0194       -             0.0035       0.0972          
1.1021 3 0.0792       -            -                -             -             -             0.0194       -             0.0035       0.1021          
1.1096 1 -             -            0.0547         -             -             0.0134       -             0.0380       0.0035       0.1096          
1.1156 11 -             -            0.0547         -             -             -             0.0194       0.0380       0.0035       0.1156          
1.1341 1 0.0792       -            -                -             -             0.0134       -             0.0380       0.0035       0.1341          
1.1372 1 -             0.1203     -                -             -             0.0134       -             -             0.0035       0.1372          

1 The Total Tax Rate is the 1.00% Proposition 13 rate plus the Voter Approved Debt rate. 
2 Tax rate areas are determined by the County of San Diego. There are currently thirteen tax rates distributed among the 146 tax rate areas of the city.

The table above shows the number of tax rate areas affected by each of the rates. 
3 MWD is the Metropolitan Water District and SDCWA is the San Diego County Water Authority.
4 The majority of voter approved debt is related to various school district and hospital bonds.

Fiscal Year 2021-22 Voter Approved Debt Tax Rates for all Rate Areas

 Source: County of San Diego, California Auditor and Controller's Office 
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Principal Property Taxpayers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Taxpayer
Taxable Assessed 

Value Rank

Percentage 
of Total City 

Net 
Assessed 

Value
Taxable Assessed 

Value Rank

Percentage 
of Total City 

Net 
Assessed 

Value 
Poseidon Water Desalination Plant 416,869,887$           1 1.15% -$                            0.00%
La Costa Glen Retirement Community 281,090,008              2 0.77 234,163,899              1 1.02
Legoland California, LLC 256,511,543              3 0.71 125,802,730              5 0.55
La Costa Resort & Spa 251,767,575              4 0.69 154,321,673              3 0.67
The Forum Shopping Center 208,723,461              5 0.57 179,700,000              2 0.78
Levine Investments Limited Partnership 184,578,441              6 0.51
The Shoppes at Carlsbad 180,395,889              7 0.50 104,159,802              8 0.45
La Costa Town Center, LLC 164,340,698              8 0.45
Grand Pacific Carlsbad LP 140,267,931              9 0.39
Carlsbad Premium Outlets 133,481,605              10 0.37 116,909,403              7 0.51
Park Hyatt Aviara Resort 150,408,827              4 0.66
Pacific View Apartments 121,088,079              6 0.53
HG Fenton Company 80,699,051                9 0.35
Waterstone Apartment Homes 79,560,000                10 0.35

 Total 2,218,027,038$        6.10% 1,346,813,464$        5.87%

 Net assessed valuation 36,362,069,240$      22,956,650,306$      

Source: County of San Diego, California Assessor's Office

2022 2013
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Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year
Total Tax Levy for 

Fiscal Year1 Amount2
Percentage of 

Levy
 Collections in 

Subsequent Years  Amount 
Percentage of 

Levy
2012-13 $54,469,819 $53,677,921 98.55% $575,391 $54,253,312 99.60%
2013-14 55,883,499 55,042,944 98.50 527,304 55,570,248 99.44
2014-15 60,266,230 59,509,285 98.74 551,957 60,061,242 99.66
2015-16 63,363,527 62,595,504 98.79 496,883 63,092,387 99.57
2016-17 67,116,590 66,233,111 98.68 575,028 66,808,139 99.54
2017-18 70,221,876 69,383,391 98.81 556,947 69,940,338 99.60
2018-19 74,560,530 73,518,065 98.60 596,675 74,114,740 99.40
2019-20 78,446,259 77,076,471 98.25 915,465 77,991,936 99.42
2020-21 82,787,902 81,504,185 98.45 638,410 82,142,595 99.22
2021-22 86,318,392 84,678,789 98.10 N/A 84,678,789 98.10

1 Includes real property transfer taxes, homeowner exemptions and Proposition 172 public safety sales taxes.
2 Total collections include secured, unsecured, homeowners' exception and supplementary amounts distributed by the county. 

Collections within the
Fiscal Year of the Levy Total Collections to Date

Source:  County of San Diego, California Auditor and Controller's Office
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Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands except per capita)

Fiscal 
Year Leases Loans Payable

Bonds/
Special Debt1

Installment 
Purchase 

Agreements Loan Payable2 Capital Leases Total 

Percentage of 
Personal 
Income

Per 
Capita

2012-13 -$                     159$                17,237$          1,697$            21,335$          -$                 40,428$          0.92% 373.48$ 
2013-14 -                       -                       16,645            905                  19,837            -                       37,387            0.77 339.36   
2014-15 -                       -                       16,260            -                       18,429            -                       34,689            0.71 313.49   
2015-16 970                  -                       16,058            -                       17,670            -                       34,698            0.60 307.25   
2016-17 784                  -                       -                       4 -                       15,901            -                       16,685            0.28 146.71   
2017-18 588                  -                       -                       -                       14,944            -                       15,532            0.24 135.51   
2018-19 378                  -                       -                       -                       16,827            -                       17,205            0.25 149.30   
2019-20 156                  -                       -                       -                       15,327            -                       15,483            0.25 135.27   
2020-21 -                       -                       -                       -                       13,750            -                       13,750            0.18 119.05   
2021-22 22                    -                       -                       -                       12,444            -                       12,466            0.14 107.85   

Notes:  Details regarding the city's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Sources:  MuniServices, LLC, California Department of Finance and US Census Data

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

1 Bond/Special Debt is net of amortized premiums.
2 The State Water Resources Control Board issued low interest loans for the Carlsbad Water Recycling Facility in 2005, 2006 and 2014. Varying amounts of principal and interest 
are due annually. Payments are funded from recycled water user fees.
3 During FY 2006-07, Carlsbad Municipal Golf Course Revenue Bonds were issued for $18.5 million. 
4 The Carlsbad Municipal Golf Course Revenue Bonds were defeased during FY 2016-17.
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Schedule of Direct and Overlapping Bonded Debt
Current Fiscal Year

Fiscal Year 2021-22 Assessed Valuation: $37,971,003,039
Redevelopment Incremental Valuation: 1,608,993,799           
Adjusted Assessed Valuation: $36,362,009,240

Total Debt City’s Share of
Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt: 06/30/22 Debt 6/30/22
Metropolitan Water District 20,175,000$              1.12% 226,767$               
Mira Costa Community College District 291,380,000              27.59 80,377,173           
Palomar Community College District 655,840,155              2.69 17,642,100           
Carlsbad Unified School District 293,223,501              98.17 287,857,511         
Carlsbad Unified School District Community Facilities District No 1 1,100,000                  100.00 1,100,000              
Oceanside Unified School District 286,410,665              0.00 11,456                   
Vista Unified School District 247,299,882              0.76 1,886,898              
Encinitas Union School District 44,196,583                29.97 13,246,158           
San Marcos Unified School District 273,680,421              17.84 48,819,113           
San Marcos Unified School District CFD No. 4 13,420,000                32.76 4,395,721              
San Marcos Unified School District CFD No. 5 11,720,000                100.00 11,720,000           
San Dieguito Union High School District 434,285,000              8.83 37,451,637           
San Dieguito Union HS District CFD No. 94-2 23,320,000                98.34 22,933,588           
San Dieguito Union HS District CFD No. 95-2 5,600,000                  8.81 493,528                 
Palomar Health District 408,228,082              1.66 6,788,833              
Olivenhain Municipal Water District, Assess. Dist. No. 96-1 5,470,000                  23.50 1,285,341              
City of Carlsbad CFD No. 3, I.A. No. 1 & No. 2 17,190,000                100.00 17,190,000           
City of Carlsbad 1915 Act Bonds 24,935,000                100.00 24,935,000           
     Total Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt 3,057,474,289$        578,360,824$       

Source:  MuniServices, LLC and County of San Diego, California Auditor and Controller's Office

1  Percentage of overlapping agency's assessed valuation located within boundaries of the city.

Percent
Applicable1
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Schedule of Direct and Overlapping Bonded Debt (continued)
Current Fiscal Year

Total Debt City’s Share of
Overlapping General Fund Obligation Debt: 06/30/22 Debt 6/30/22
San Diego County General Fund Obligations 245,340,000$            6.29% 15,434,339$         
San Diego County Pension Obligation Bonds 340,825,000              6.29 21,441,301           
San Diego County Superintendent of Schools General Fund Obligations 7,780,000                  6.29 489,440                 
Palomar Community College District General Fund Obligations 1,440,000                  2.69 38,736                   
Carlsbad Unified School District General Fund Obligations 61,600,000                98.17 60,472,720           
San Marcos Unified School District General Fund Obligations 70,463,687                17.84 12,569,312           
Vista Unified School District Certificates of Participation 39,095,000                0.76 298,295                 
San Dieguito Union High School District General Fund Obligations 12,730,000                8.83 1,123,677              
     Total Overlapping General Fund Obligation Debt 779,273,687$            111,867,820$       

Overlapping Tax Increment Debt (Successor Agency): 1,950,000                  100.00 1,950,000              2

 
Total Overlapping Debt: 3,838,697,976$        692,178,644$       

City of Carlsbad Direct Debt:

City of Carlsbad Governmental Activities Obligations 22,377$                      100.00 22,377$                 
     Total City of Carlsbad Direct Debt 22,377$                      22,377$                 

Combined Total Debt 3,838,720,353$        692,201,021$       3

Source:  MuniServices, LLC and County of San Diego, California Auditor and Controller's Office

1  Percentage of overlapping agency's assessed valuation located within boundaries of the city.
2  Created by the dissolution of the Redevelopment Agency in FY 2011-12.
3  Excludes tax and revenue anticipation notes, enterprise revenue, mortgage revenue and tax allocation bonds.

Ratios to FY 2021-22 Assessed Valuation:

  Total Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt 1.59%

Ratios to FY 2021-22 Adjusted Assessed Valuation:

  Governmental Activities Direct Debt  0.0001%

  Combined Total Debt 1.90%

Percent
Applicable1

S h d l f i d
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Direct and Overlapping Debt
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(rate per $1,000 of assessed value)

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15
Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt:
Metropolitan Water District 0.080$           0.062$           0.049$           
Mira Costa Community College District -               -               -               
Palomar Community College District 0.375             0.361             0.562             
Carlsbad Unified School District 8.312             7.921             7.073             
Carlsbad Unified School District CFD No. 1 0.103             0.052             -               
Oceanside Unified School District 0.001             -               -               
Vista Unified School District 0.031             0.028             0.025             
Encinitas Union School District 0.454             0.426             0.385             
San Marcos Unified School District 1.711             2.248             2.087             
San Marcos Unified School District Facility Improvement District 0.076             0.057             0.035             
San Marcos Unified School District CFD No. 4 0.230             0.292             0.254             
San Marcos Unified School District CFD No. 5 0.918             0.864             0.690             
San Dieguito Union High School District 0.621             0.607             0.967             
San Dieguito Union HS District CFD No. 94-1 0.004             0.004             0.003             
San Dieguito Union HS District CFD No. 94-2 1.082             1.032             0.928             
San Dieguito Union HS District CFD No. 95-2 0.022             0.023             0.021             
San Dieguito Union HS District combined CFD -               -               -               
Palomar Health District 0.353             0.336             0.308             
Olivenhain Municipal Water District, Assess. Dist. No. 96-1 0.138             0.139             0.031             
City of Carlsbad CFD No. 3, I.A. No. 1 & No. 2 1.045             1.000             0.903             
City of Carlsbad 1915 Act Bonds 2.107             2.018             1.727             
     Total Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt 17.663$         17.470$         16.048$         

Overlapping General Fund Obligation Debt:
San Diego County General Fund Obligations 1.070$           0.983$           0.857$           
San Diego County Pension Obligation Bonds 2.017             1.865             1.664             
San Diego City Superintendent of Schools General Fund Obligations 0.047             0.042             0.036             
Mira Costa Community College District Certificates of Participation 0.028             0.023             0.018             
Palomar Community College District General Fund Obligations 0.006             0.006             0.005             
Carlsbad Unified School District General Fund Obligations 1.967             2.086             1.846             
San Marcos Unified School District General Fund Obligations 0.458             0.441             0.407             
Vista Unified School District Certificates of Participation 0.001             0.001             0.001             
San Dieguito Union High School District General Fund Obligations 0.051             0.049             0.047             
Other Unified School District Certificates of Participation -               -               -               
     Total Overlapping General Fund Obligation Debt 5.645$           5.496$           4.881$           

Overlapping Tax Increment Debt (Successor Agency): 0.376$           0.341$           0.290$           

Total Overlapping Debt: 23.684           23.307           21.219           

City of Carlsbad Direct Debt:
City of Carlsbad Governmental Activities Obligations 0.007             -               -               
     Total City of Carlsbad Direct Debt 0.007$           -$             -$             

Combined Total Debt 23.691$         23.307$         21.219$         

Source:  MuniServices, LLC and County of San Diego, California Auditor and Controller's Office
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2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

0.039$           0.030$           0.023$           0.017$           0.013$           0.009$           0.006$           
-               -               0.918             0.750             0.590             2.414             2.210             

0.520             0.619             0.571             0.530             0.493             0.498             0.485             
6.370             5.816             5.298             7.474             6.944             8.861             7.916             
-               -               0.051             0.045             0.039             0.035             0.030             
-               -               -               -               -               -               -               

0.022             0.024             0.018             0.028             0.027             0.027             0.052             
0.515             0.551             0.506             0.461             0.421             0.389             0.364             
1.922             1.797             1.706             1.571             1.521             1.414             1.343             
0.027             0.020             0.014             0.009             0.004             -               -               
0.232             0.199             0.146             0.164             0.146             0.132             0.121             
0.626             0.566             0.404             0.456             0.404             0.360             0.322             
0.906             1.031             0.925             0.956             0.925             1.087             1.030             
0.003             0.003             -               -               -               -               -               
0.855             0.983             0.736             0.800             0.736             0.678             0.631             
0.019             0.017             0.017             0.018             0.017             0.015             0.014             
-               -               -               -               -               -               -               

0.285             0.258             0.212             0.228             0.212             0.196             0.187             
0.102             0.091             0.079             0.069             0.058             0.040             0.035             
0.836             0.750             0.684             0.623             0.561             0.513             0.473             
1.564             1.379             1.240             1.024             0.892             0.786             0.686             

14.843$         14.134$         13.548$         15.223$         14.003$         17.454$         15.905$         

0.709$           0.648$           0.572$           0.510$           0.436$           0.379$           0.424$           
1.497             1.347             1.168             1.016             0.860             0.716             0.590             
0.031             0.025             0.023             0.020             0.018             0.015             0.013             
0.014             0.119             0.005             0.001             -               -               -               
0.004             0.003             0.002             0.002             0.001             0.001             0.001             
1.692             1.598             1.447             1.313             1.176             1.065             1.663             
0.376             0.378             0.459             0.421             0.401             0.368             0.346             
0.001             0.001             -               -               -               -               0.008             
0.044             0.041             0.039             0.036             0.034             0.032             0.031             
-               -               -               -               -               -               -               

4.368$           4.160$           3.715$           3.319$           2.926$           2.576$           3.076$           

0.250$           0.212$           0.177$           0.143$           0.110$           0.090$           0.058$           

19.461           18.506           17.440           18.685           17.039           20.120           19.039           

0.036             0.028             0.020             0.012             0.005             -               0.001             
0.036$           0.028$           0.020$           0.012$           0.005$           -$             0.001$           

19.497$         18.534$         17.460$         18.697$         17.044$         20.120$         19.040$         
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Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Net assessed valuation 22,956,650$          23,522,746$          25,489,468$          26,924,891$          

Debt limit (25% x 15%) 860,874                  882,103                  955,855                  1,009,683              

Less amount of debt applicable to limit:
    Bonded debt 17,005                    16,645                    16,260                    15,855                    
    Loan payable 159                         -                          -                          -                          
    Lease obligations -                          -                          -                          970                         
Total net debt applicable to limit 17,164                    16,645                    16,260                    16,825                    

Legal debt margin 843,710$               865,458$               939,595$               992,858$               

Total net debt applicable to the limit
    as a percentage of debt limit 1.99% 1.89% 1.70% 1.67%

Source: City of Carlsbad Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports

1 The golf course bonds were defeased during FY 2016-17.

Note:  Under state finance law, the city's outstanding general obligation debt should not exceed 15% (as adjusted by 25% 
per the law) of total assessed property value.  By law, the general obligation debt subject to the limitation may be offset 
by amounts set aside for repaying general obligation bonds.

1.99% 1.89%
1.70% 1.67%

0.07% 0.05% 0.03% 0.01% 0.00% 0.00%
0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Percent of Debt Applicable to the Legal Debt Limit
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

28,423,782$          29,994,964$          31,635,528$          33,655,907$          35,217,379$          36,362,069,240$  

1,065,892              1,124,811              1,186,332              1,262,097              1,320,652              1,363,577,597       

-                          1 -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          
785                         588                         378                         156                         -                          22                           
785                         588                         378                         156                         -                          22                           

1,065,107$            1,124,223$            1,185,954$            1,261,941$            1,320,652$            1,363,577,575$     

0.07% 0.05% 0.03% 0.01% 0.00% 0.00%
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Pledged-Revenue Coverage
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Wastewater Revenue Bonds

 Gross revenues 1, 5 12,599,601$     13,699,286$     13,723,835$     13,723,835$     
 Less expenses 2, 5 7,094,310          6,989,194          7,249,798          7,249,798          
     Net available revenue 5,505,291$       6,710,092$       6,474,037$       6,474,037$       

Debt service
      Principal 5 820,000$           860,000$           905,000$           905,000$           
      Interest 5 111,469             68,419               23,191               -                      
          Total debt service 931,469$           928,419$           928,191$           905,000$           

Coverage 5.91                    7.23                    6.97                    7.15                    

Recycled Water Loans
 Gross revenues 3 8,160,109$       9,392,061$       9,210,258$       8,216,362$       
 Less expenses 4 4,019,176          3,640,786          3,826,699          4,679,706          
     Net available revenue 4,140,933$       5,751,275$       5,383,559$       3,536,656$       

Debt service
     Principal 1,343,498$       1,375,337$       1,407,932$       1,441,301$       
     Interest 532,983             501,144             468,550             435,182             
          Total debt service 1,876,481$       1,876,481$       1,876,482$       1,876,483$       

Coverage 2.21                    3.06                    2.87                    1.88                    

Golf Course Revenue Bonds
 Gross revenues 1, 6 6,777,292$       7,747,116$       8,428,375$       8,196,853$       
 Less expenses 2, 6 5,954,896          6,125,159          6,302,019          6,273,320          
     Net available revenue 822,396$           1,621,957$       2,126,356$       1,923,533$       

Debt service
      Principal 6 340,000$           360,000$           385,000$           405,000$           
      Interest 6 771,600             755,850             739,088             721,313             
          Total debt service 1,111,600$       1,115,850$       1,124,088$       1,126,313$       

Coverage 0.74                    1.45                    1.89                    1.71                    

Source:  City of Carlsbad Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports

 1 Includes operating and non-operating revenues and transfers in from the General Fund.
 2 Includes operating and non-operating expenses, excluding interest expense and depreciation.

 5 Debt service on the wastewater revenue bonds was completed during FY 2015-16.
 6 The golf course bonds were defeased during FY 2016-17.

 3 Includes water (potable and recycled) operating and non-operating revenues and fees. In FY 2020-21 the 
State Water Resources Board confirmed the pledged revenue includes potable, which was excluded in 
prior years.
 4 Includes water (potable and recycled) operating and non-operating expenses, excluding interest expense 
and depreciation. In FY 2020-21 the State Water Resources Board confirmed the pledged revenue includes 
potable, which was excluded in prior years. 
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2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

8,371,467$       9,869,958$       8,198,882$       7,557,893$       56,446,838$     3,4 56,363,973$     
4,863,054          5,559,509          6,472,817          5,926,215          50,079,801       3,4 53,308,298       
3,508,413$       4,310,449$       1,726,065$       1,631,678$       6,367,037$       3,055,675$       

1,475,461$       1,510,433$       1,546,234$       1,582,886$       1,620,408$       1,658,821$       
401,021             366,049             330,248             293,596             256,074             217,661             

1,876,482$       1,876,482$       1,876,482$       1,876,482$       1,876,482$       1,876,482$       

1.87                    2.30                    0.92                    0.87                    3.39                    1.63                    

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
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Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Year
Total 

Population

% of S.D. 
County 

Population
% Change from 
Previous Year

% High 
School 

Graduate

% Bachelor's 
Degree or 

Higher Median Age

2012-13 108,246    3.44% 0.53% 88.5% 35.4% 39.3

2013-14 110,169 3.45 1.78 95.6 51.3 40.3

2014-15 110,653 3.43 0.44 96.0 51.9 41.1

2015-16 112,930 3.43 2.06 95.6 54.8 42.1

2016-17 113,725 3.43 0.70 95.8 54.2 41.9

2017-18 114,622 3.43 0.79 95.7 55.0 42.3

2018-19 115,241 3.44 0.54 95.7 58.1 42.6

2019-20 114,463 3.42          -0.68 95.0 59.5 44.4

2020-21 115,501 3.48 0.91 95.2 59.5 42.9

2021-22 115,585 3.52 0.07 97.1 60.4 41.8

Sources:  MuniServices, LLC
                 Population projections are from the California Department of Finance

2 Unemployment increase in FY 2019-20 is due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Educational Attainment

1 Personal income is the estimated total aggregate income for the total population.

                 Unemployment rate estimates are from the California Employment Development Department, Bureau of Labor Statistics.
                 Household and demographic characteristics estimates are from the United States Census Data Sets Tables.
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Average 
Household 

Size

Personal 
Income 

(millions) 1

Per Capita 
Personal 
Income 

City 
Unemployment 

Rate

2.63 4,403$      40,672$            5.9%

2.53 4,862        44,134              6.30

2.30 4,907        44,345              4.30

2.68 5,741        50,838              5.20

2.58 6,060        53,285              4.20

2.60 6,496        56,675              3.00

2.60 6,889        59,780              2.60

2.60 6,101        53,300               13.50 2

2.38 7,751        67,111              8.11

2.39 8,910        77,085              2.40
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Principal Employers
Current Fiscal Year and Nine Years Ago

Employer Industry Employees Rank
% of Total City 
Employment Employees Rank

% of Total City 
Employment

ViaSat, Inc. Information Technology 4,213 1 5.40% 1,510 2 2.44%

Legoland California Hospitality/Tourism 2,300 2 2.95% 1,422 4 2.29%

Thermo Fisher Scientific Life Sciences 2,332 3 2.99%

Carlsbad Unified School District Education 1,094 4 1.40% 903 7 1.46%

Omni La Costa Resort & Spa Hospitality/Tourism 900 5 1.15% 932 6 1.50%

City of Carlsbad Government 783 6 1.00% 675 9 1.09%

Gemological Institute of America Research/Education 771 7 0.99% 794 8 1.28%

Ionis Parmaceuticals Life Sciences 671 8 0.86%

Park Hyatt Aviara Hospitality/Tourism 648 9 0.83%

TaylorMade Golf Company Action Sports 514 10 0.66% 954 5 1.54%

Callaway Golf Company Action Sports 1,637 1 2.64%

Life Technologies Life Sciences 1,454 3 2.35%

Zimmer Dental, Inc Manufacturing 673 10 1.09%
Subtotal Employees 14,226 18.24% 10,954 17.67%

Total Employees Citywide (estimate) 78,000 62,000

Source:  City of Carlsbad Business License Data

Fiscal Year 2021-22 Fiscal Year 2012-13
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Authorized Full-Time and 3/4-Time City Government Employees by Program Area
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Program Area 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Policy and Leadership Group

City Attorney 7.00               7.00               7.00               7.00               
City Clerk Services 6.00               5.00               5.00               5.00               
City Council 1.00               1.00               1.00               1.00               
City Manager 7.00               7.00               7.00               7.00               
City Treasurer 0.75               0.75               0.75               0.75               
Communications & Engagement 2.75               2.75               4.75               1 5.00               

Administrative Services
Administration -                 -                 -                 -                 
Finance 30.50             31.50             31.50             32.50             
Human Resources 9.00               9.00               11.00             11.00             
Information Technology 22.50             22.50             22.50             19.50             
Innovation & Economic Development -                 -                 -                 -                 

Public Safety
Police 161.00           161.00           162.00           168.00           
Fire 87.75             88.00             89.00             89.00             

Community Services
Community Services Administration -                 -                 -                 -                 
Community Development 47.00             44.00             44.00             44.00             
Housing & Homeless Services 10.00             10.00             12.00             13.00             
Library & Cultural Arts 51.25             51.25             50.25             1 50.50             
Parks & Recreation 68.40             67.60             61.60             1 58.15             

Public Works
Construction Management & Inspection -                 -                 -                 -                 
Environmental Management -                 -                 -                 8.50               2

Fleet & Facilities -                 -                 -                 -                 
General Services 39.55             40.60             39.90             28.10             2

Public Works Administration -                 -                 -                 8.05               2

Transportation 54.40             53.40             55.90             57.35             2

Utilities 67.65             65.40             64.60             60.85             2

Limited Term Personnel (Full-Time) 1.00               2.00               -                 3.75               

Total Full Time Authorized Employees 674.50           669.75           669.75           678.00           
Net Increase/(decrease) over prior year (9.75)              (4.75)              -                 8.25               

Source:  City of Carlsbad Operating Budget

Notes:  Table Includes both full-time and 3/4 time employees
  A full-time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation and sick-leave).  
  A 3/4 time employee is scheduled to work 1,560 hours per year (including vacation and sick-leave).  

1 During FY 2014-15, the Policy and Leadership and Community Services divisions were reorganized.
2 During FY 2015-16, FY 2016-17, FY 2019-20 and FY 2020-21, the Public Works division restructured divisions.
3 During FY 2018-19, Police IT was consolidated with city IT, resulting in the transfer of 5.0 FTEs.
4 During FY 2018-19, Housing & Neighborhood Services was combined with Community Development.
5 During FY 2020-21, employees were moved from City Manager and Community Development to create a new office

of Innovation & Economic Development and Community Services Administration.
6 During FY 2021-22, Housing & Homeless Services was established.
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2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

6.00               7.00               7.00               8.00             8.00             8.00             
5.00               6.00               6.00               7.00             7.00             7.00             
1.00               1.00               1.00               2.00             2.00             2.00             
8.00               8.00               9.00               12.00           7.00             5 7.00             
0.75               0.75               0.75               1.00             1.00             1.00             
5.00               5.00               5.00               7.00             7.00             9.00             

-                 -                 -                 -               -               3.00             
33.00             32.00             32.00             31.00           31.00           28.00           
11.00             11.00             11.00             17.00           17.00           17.00           
20.00             27.00             32.00             3 35.00           37.00           37.00           

-                 -                 -                 2.00             4.00             5 4.00             

168.00           168.00           169.00           3 184.00        184.00        186.00        
90.00             90.00             90.00             97.75           97.75           112.00        

-                 -                 -                 -               3.00             5 3.00             
44.00             44.00             58.00             4 63.00           61.75           5 53.00           6

13.00             13.00             -                 4 -               -               14.00           6

50.50             50.50             50.50             52.50           52.50           53.00           
57.15             57.00             55.00             55.00           55.00           55.00           

-                 -                 -                 -               15.20           2 15.20           
9.50               2 9.70               9.60               11.05           11.95           17.95           
-                 -                 -                 -               34.05           2 37.05           

51.30             2 52.00             53.00             47.85           2 -               -               
9.85               2 12.30             7.65               7.60             7.85             7.85             

33.00             2 32.00             35.00             44.15           2 41.75           41.75           
60.20             2 59.00             61.75             62.10           61.95           63.95           

6.75               7.75               4.75               0.75             -               -               

683.00           693.00           698.00           747.75        747.75        782.75        
5.00               10.00             5.00               49.75           -               35.00           
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Operating Indicators by Function/Program
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
General Government

Number of applications processed (full and part-time) 10,904            9,527            8,551              8,037            
Number of external new hires (full and part-time) 151                  284               299                  260               
Number of internal promotions / transfers (full-time only) 6                      47                 41                    31                 
Business licenses processed 9,422              10,327         10,735            11,449         
Number of outgoing payments processed 38,441            39,310         40,663            41,398         

Public Safety
Police

Calls for service 90,122            87,976         91,314            92,061         
Average priority one response (minutes) 5.8                   5.8                6.5                   6.1                
Cases 8,314              8,296            8,349              9,253            

Fire
Emergency responses 10,755            9,925            9,830              11,455         
Response time: arrivals on scene within goal standard 71% 63% 63% 64%

Community Development
Affordable housing units completed 59                    -                -                  -                
Financial assistance to affordable housing projects 7,408,000$    -$              2,646,000$    -$              
Building permits issued 1,500              1,400            1,600              3,000            
Building inspections conducted 24,000            19,000         21,000            23,000         
Final inspections (residential dwelling units) 440                  190               200                  200               
Final inspections (commercial square feet) n/a 45,000         60,000            60,000         
Code Enforcement Actions (activities) 4,943              4,794            5,389              10,994         

Community Services
Library - total material circulation 1,348,333       1,369,369    1,293,282       1,103,090    
Library - patron visits 821,045          791,533       804,003          609,679       3

Cultural Arts - number of events 50                    62                 80                    88                 
Arts - attendance of events 80,000            75,000         87,000            85,000         
Recreation - youth sports participants 1,200              2,292            1 1,000              1,000            
Recreation - adult sports participants 5,200              5,600            6,150              5,600            
Recreation - enrichment class enrollees 12,200            10,350         19,030            2 19,632         
Recreation - special events participants 13,000            13,600         17,841            2 19,474         
Recreation - aquatics classes conducted 575                  1,018            1 1,224              684               
Trees trimmed 1,936              1,920            2,018              1,965            

Public Works
Streets

Centerline road miles resurfaced with overlay or slurry seal 24.3                14.8              18.1 20.0
Carlsbad Municipal Water District

Average consumption (millions of gallons per day) 15.4                15.9              14.6                12.1              
Annual water deliveries (acre feet) 17,248            17,801         16,368            13,578         
Water connections 28,947            29,045         29,190            29,190         

Wastewater
Sewage pumped (millions of gallons per day) 6.65                6.53              5.90                6.17              
Annual flow (millions of gallons) 2,426              2,384            2,152              2,252            
Wastewater connections 22,955            23,282         23,431            23,431         

Source:  City of Carlsbad

1 Increases in the number of participants is the result of the opening of the Alga Norte Community Park in FY 2013-14.
2 Increases in the number of enrichment class and special events participants are the results of overall higher attendance

and including recategorized classes previously not classified or included as enrichment classes or special events in prior years.
3 The decrease in patron visits is due to the temporary closures  of library facilities for remodeling during FY 2015-16.
4 The decrease is due to the time involved with the implementation of a new licensing system during FY 2016-17.
5 Reporting of information is not available for FY 20167-17 due to the implementation of a new permitting system.
6 Beginning in FY 2016-17, 2,500 acre feet of contracted desalinated water is included in the water purchase totals. 
7 FY 2019-20 and FY 2020-21 had decreases in some public facing programs and services due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

9,544              9,455            8,495            8,012            5,469             6,578             
292                  311               345               248               198                376                

58                    44                 66                 66                 24                  79                  
8,142              4 11,267         9,546            10,180         10,164           9,736             

41,304            41,869         43,520         44,128         41,164           41,315           

84,858            90,760         99,562         112,323       110,448        107,156        
5.9                   5.8                5.7                5.5                5.2                 5.2                 

8,884              8,643            8,705            8,774            8,222             8,704             

12,183            12,520         12,833         13,331         12,345           13,837           
78% 76% 76% 75% 75% 70%

-                  -                -                157               119                48                  
1,280,000$    -$              -$              -$              8,300,000$   5,250,000$   

4,500              4,392            4,884            4,464            4,645             4,562             
27,000            22,671         21,527         21,209         17,044           14,664           

600                  289               215               268               309                323                
95,000            155,292       2,350,975    365,644       403,397        141,285        

n/a 5 9,538            8,154            7,360            6,443             8,065             

1,243,228       1,169,247    1,185,390    975,024       7 536,078        7 1,033,006     
720,205          685,188       668,973       483,233       7 20,214           7 372,671        

79                    82                 96                 51                 7 135                7 159                
79,067            65,817         61,531         37,913         7 9,724             7 20,844           

968                  1,003            1,260            993               7 -                 7 1,428 
4,500              4,800            4,800            2,400            7 -                 7 1,714 

17,402            12,996         17,900         9,641            7 3,270             7 16,540 
12,150            11,645         9,600            3,705            7 300                7 8,575 

733                  778               830               770               7 715                7  1,061
1,971              1,954            4,340            4,678            4,500              3,025

23.8 25.8 8.3 14.9 -                 24.5               

13.1                14.3              13.0              12.7              13.5               13.2               
14,616            6 16,032         14,563         14,249         14,731           14,787           
29,782            30,054         30,131         30,265         30,439           29,446           

5.82                6.32              6.03              6.31              6.27               5.75               
2,125              2,306            2,200            2,305            2,288             2,097             

23,747            23,863         23,959         24,040         24,103           24,096           
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Capital Asset Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Community Services

Number of parks and community fields 31            33            33            33            
Acres of developed parks and community fields 183          281          319          319          
Acres of open space and community fields 755          728          728          728          
Miles of open space trails 47            47            47            47            
Number of pools 1               3               3               3               
Number of community centers 4               4               4               4               
Number of libraries 3               3               3               3               
Number of Materials in Library Collections 625,893  581,865  574,775  563,581  

Public Safety
Fire Protection

Number of stations 6               6               6               6               
Number of fire trucks 12            13            12            12            
Number of ambulances 6               8               7               6               
Number of other fire vehicles 15            16            15            18            

Police Protection
Number of patrol and other vehicles 88            114          114          106          
Number of motorcycles 13            13            14            15            

Public Works
Carlsbad Municipal Water District

Miles of pipelines 534          534          534          559          

Wastewater
Miles of sewers 288          288          288          288          

Streets
Miles of streets 343          346          347          348          
Number of street lights 7,179       7,236       7,262       7,265       
Number of traffic signals 174          174          177          177          

Source:  City of Carlsbad

1 During FY 2018-19, the number of vehicles was updated to include both active and reserve vehicles.
2 In FY 2019-20, a change in the reporting methodology was implemented to include all first responder vehicles. 
3 In FY 2019-20, only active lines were counted. Prior years included abandoned and future lines.
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2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

33            33            33            33            33            34            
319          319          319          319          322          339          
728          728          787          802          817          963          

47            47            52            52            67            51            
3               3               3               3               3               3               
4               5               5               5               5               5               
3               3               3               3               3               3               

491,956  477,149  473,154  477,042  497,407 478,825

6               6               6               1 6               6               6               
12            13            14            1 13            2 13            15            

5               5               5               1 6               2 6               10            
20            20            25            1 25            2 27            27            

106          96            119          1 119          119          134          
12            13            13            1 15            15            15            

559          559          559          535          3 535          549          

288          288          288          272          265          265          

350          350          350          350          350          350          
7,334       7,337       7,388       7,520       7,527       8,838       

177          178          179          181          181          194          
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